

Classic Maps (Views)

SL1 version 11.1.0

Table of Contents

Introduction to Classic Maps (Views)	4
Overview of Device Relationships	5
Views that Display Device Relationships	5
Buttons, Tools, Icons, and Customization	7
Buttons, Tools, and Icons (Classic User Interface Only)	9
Customizing the Display of a Map	11
Arranging the Map	11
Link Length	13
Drag-and-Drop Editing	14
Zoom Buttons	16
Edit Buttons	18
Nodes	19
Shapes	21
Text	27
Images	34
Layers	
Device Maps	
Device Group Maps	40
Viewing a Device Group Map	40
Filtering Nodes in a Device Group Map (Classic User Interface Only)	41
Organizational Maps	42
Viewing an Organizational Map	43
Filtering Nodes in an Organizational Map (Classic User Interface Only)	44
Editing a Link (Classic User Interface Only)	
Device Category Maps	45
Viewing a Device Category Map	46
Filtering Nodes in a Device Category Map (Classic User Interface Only)	46
Component Maps	48
Viewing a Component Map	
Filtering Nodes in a Component Map (Classic User Interface Only)	
Adding Devices from Another Component Tree to the Component Map	50
Topology Maps	52
Layer-2 Maps	54
Viewing a Layer-2 Map	54
Filtering Nodes in a Layer-2 Map	56
Confirming or Deleting an Unconfirmed Link	
Creating, Editing and Deleting a Link	
Creating a Link	
Editing a Link	
Deleting a Link	
Customizing the Display of a Layer-2 Map	
Event Correlation and Precedence	
CDP Maps	
Viewing a CDP Map	
Filtering the Nodes in a CDP Map	
Creating, Editing, Confirming and Deleting a Link	
Customizing the Display of a CDP Map	
Event Correlation and Precedence	
LLDP Maps	
Viewing an LLDP Map	68

Filtering the Nodes in a LLDP Map	
Creating, Editing, Confirming and Deleting a Link	
Customizing the Display of a LLDP Map	71
Event Correlation and Precedence	71
Layer-3 Maps	71
Viewing a Layer-3 Map	71
Creating, Editing, Confirming and Deleting a Link	73
Customizing the Display of a Layer-3 Map	
Event Correlation and Precedence	
Customized Maps	
About Customized Maps	
Creating and Populating the Device Group	
Creating, Editing, and Deleting Links	
Creating a Link in a Customized Map	
Editing a Link in a Customized Map	
Deleting a Link in a Customized Map	
Viewing and Filtering Customized Maps	
Filtering the Nodes in a Customized Map	
Example: Creating a Custom Map	
Event Correlation and Precedence	
Event Correlation	
Precedence	
Classic Views	
Types of Classic Views	
Viewing Classic Views	
The Actions Menu	
Searching and Sorting a Classic View	

Chapter

Introduction to Classic Maps (Views)

Overview

A **Classic Map** (View) is a graphical representation of a group of devices. The **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Views, formerly the **[Views]** tab in the classic user interface) allows you to view and edit maps and relationships between devices and virtual infrastructure. In SL1, views are organized by device group, organization, device category, component maps, Layer-2 topology, CDP topology, LLDP topology, Layer-3 topology, or Virtual Infrastructure (VMware and virtual machines).

In the classic user interface only, you can also create your own classic maps with your most important devices, and add images, text, links, and shapes to customize your maps.

Use the following menu options to navigate the SL1 user interface:

- To view a pop-out list of menu options, click the menu icon (三).
- To view a page containing all the menu options, click the Advanced menu icon (…).

This chapter includes the following topics:

Overview of Device Relationships	5
Views that Display Device Relationships	5

Overview of Device Relationships

SL1 automatically defines parent and child relationships for certain devices. Users can also manually define some types of relationships. Devices can have the following types of relationships:

- Layer-2 devices and their clients. Layer-2 relationships are automatically discovered by SL1 and can be created in the **Subnet Map (L2)** page (Maps > Classic Maps > Topology Maps > Layer-2).
- Layer-3 devices and layer-2 devices. Layer-3 relationships are automatically discovered by SL1 and can be created in the **Layer 3 Map** page (Maps > Classic Maps > Topology Maps > Layer-3).
- Network devices that use CDP (Cisco Discovery Protocol) and devices that are specified as neighbors in the CDP tables. CDP relationships are automatically discovered by SL1 and can be created in the Subnet Map (CDP) page (Maps > Classic Maps > Topology Maps > CDP).
- Network devices that use LLDP (Link Layer Discovery Protocol) and devices that are specified as neighbors in the LLDP tables. LLDP relationships are automatically discovered by SL1 and can be created in the Classic Maps > Topology Maps > LLDP page (Maps > Classic Maps > Topology Maps > LLDP).
- Component devices and their parent devices using Dynamic Application data. For example, virtual machines and their hypervisors.
- Device relationships between root devices, parent devices, and component devices (Component Mapping).
- Device relationships created using Dynamic Application data. For example, the Dynamic Applications in the VMware vSphere and NetApp PowerPacks are configured to create relationships between VMware Datastore component devices and their associated NetApp Volume component devices.
- Generic parent-child relationships, sometimes referred to as Event Correlation relationships or Ad-Hoc relationships, can be manually created. These relationships can be created in the **Device Children** page for the parent device.

NOTE: SL1 also automatically discovers relationships between VMWare hypervisors and VMWare virtual machines using SNMP data, but only for legacy versions VMWare ESX 3.5 and VMWare ESX 4.x.

All device relationships are displayed as child and parent relationships. For example:

- A layer-2 switch is a parent device and a firewall attached to the switch is a child device.
- A layer-3 router is a parent device and a layer-2 switch attached to the router is a child device.
- A VMware ESX server is a parent device and a Linux VM on that server is a child device.

Views that Display Device Relationships

The following options on the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Views) display device relationship information. Relationships are displayed in a map only if both the parent device and the child device are displayed in the map:

- Organizational Maps display all types of relationships.
- Component Maps display component relationships and relationships created using Dynamic Application data.
- Layer-2 Maps display Layer-2 relationships.
- Layer-3 Maps display Layer-3 relationships.
- CDP Maps display CDP relationships.
- LLDP Maps display LLDP relationships.
- Customized Maps display all types of relationships.

Chapter

2

Buttons, Tools, Icons, and Customization

Overview

In SL1, device maps show the relationships between devices in a network. Although SL1 includes maps of different types of device relationships (for example, devices grouped by organization, devices grouped by layer-2 topology, devices grouped by CDP topology, devices groups by LLDP topology), each map uses a similar set of buttons, tools, and icons. Before reading about the different types of maps, it is helpful to understand the functions of the map pages.

NOTE: This chapter is relevant to the classic user interface of SL1 only. For more information about using Classic Maps in the SL1 user interface, see the *Maps* manual.

Use the following menu options to navigate the SL1 user interface:

- To view a pop-out list of menu options, click the menu icon (三).
- To view a page containing all the menu options, click the Advanced menu icon (…).

This chapter includes the following topics:

Buttons, Tools, and Icons (Classic User Interface Only)	9
Customizing the Display of a Map	11
Arranging the Map	11
Link Length	13
Drag-and-Drop Editing	14
Zoom Buttons	16
Edit Buttons	18

Nodes	19
Shapes	21
Text	27
Images	34
Layers	36

Buttons, Tools, and Icons (Classic User Interface Only)

Each device map, topology map, and virtual infrastructure map displays buttons, tools, and icons that are displayed in the left of the map page. The buttons, tools, and icons in the Views pages are:



- Reset. Resets the default display. Any unsaved changes are removed.
- *Kiosk*. Spawns a new page, where the map appears in full-screen. This display model is helpful in NOC environments.
- Lock Icon. Toggles on and off the display of the menu at the left of the pane and the menu at the top of the pane. When the lock icon appears in white, the menu is "locked" and will continue to be displayed in the pane. When the lock icon appears in gray, the menu is displayed only when you are working in the menu. To make the hidden menu appear again, mouse over the border where the menu resides.



- *Filter icon*. Toggles on and off the display of the *Node Filters* checkboxes. These checkboxes allow you to filter the nodes included in a map based on whether a device or connection is managed or unmanaged in SL1, whether the node is part of a device group, the status of the device (healthy, notice, minor, major, critical), or the device category assigned to the device.
- Arrange Map. Specifies the format style for the map. Choices are: Tree, Radical Tree, Grid, and Random.
- Link Length Slider. Slider bar that allows you to dynamically adjust the length of all links in the Radial view or Tree view of a map.
- Take Screenshot. Saves the current display as a .png file to the local computer.
- Zoom bar. Magnifies and contracts the map.
- Fit. Adjusts the zoom to fit the entire map within the pane.
- Center. Centers the map in the middle of the pane without changing the zoom.



- Edit: Nodes. Displays a menu at the top of the pane that allows you to edit the display of nodes in the map.
- *Edit: Shapes*. Displays a menu at the top of the pane that allows you to add hand-drawn shapes on the map. The menu allows you to select shapes, drag-and-drop points, line thickness, fills, transparency, and colors. You can also delete shapes that were previously added to the map.
- **Edit: Text**. Displays a menu at the top of the pane that allows you to add text to the map and format the text. You can also delete text that was previously added to the map.
- *Edit: Images*. Displays a menu at the top of the pane that allows you to import and format an image. You can include the image in the map or use the image as the background of the map. You can also delete an image that was previously added to the map.
- Edit: Save. Saves changes to the map.
- Edit: Revert. Ignores all changes and returns to the last saved version of the map.
- Layers: Nodes. Toggles the display of devices in the map.
- Layers: Links. Toggles the display of links in the map.
- Layers: Shapes. Toggles the display of hand-drawn shapes in the map.

- Layers: Text. Toggles the display of manually entered text in the map.
- Layers: Images. Toggles the display of imported images in the map.

These buttons, tools, and icons can be used to customize device and help you create your own maps. The next section will provide more detail on how to use these buttons, tools and icons.

Customizing the Display of a Map

You can customize maps to more easily manage your devices and display only the maps that best fit your needs.

You can edit and customize device maps, as well as Layer-2 maps, CDP maps, LLDP maps, and Layer-3 maps. You can also create your own customized map.

There are three ways to customize a map:

- The options in the Arrange Map drop-down menu.
- In the map page, you can edit the layout of nodes by selecting the *Edit: [Nodes]* button and using the dragand-drop editing features.
- Using the Zoom, Edit and Layers tools to the left of the pane.

NOTE: You can also customize Layer-2 maps, CDP maps, LLDP maps and Layer 3-maps by creating, editing and deleting links. To learn more about links, see *Topology Maps*.

Arranging the Map

The Arrange Map drop-down menu allows you to specify the layout for the map. Your choices are:

• **Tree**. Arranges devices in a tree structure, with the root as the top-level network device (usually a switch or router).



• Radial Tree. Arranges devices in a circle around the top-level network device (usually a switch or router).



• *Random*. Arranges devices in a random pattern.



• **Grid**. Arranges devices in rows and columns. The top-level network device (usually a switch or router) appears in the upper left.

Device Group Map			Kiosk Reset Guide
Zoom:		8	
T	Tace Filter Screensho Reduing Trace Filter Screensho Reduing Trace Redui		
Fit Center Edit Text Image Save Revert Lists Ø Stapes Ø Text Ø Images Ø		Windows 2003 Windows 2003 Model Windows 2003 Model Model Model Model	

Link Length

If you arrange a map in the Tree view or Radial view, you can use the Link Length slider to dynamically change the length of all links in the map.

Sliding the slider to the left decreases the link length.:



Sliding the slider to the right increases the link length:



Drag-and-Drop Editing

Each device in the maps page is an individual node that can be placed in different areas of the map while retaining its link to other devices. You can drag-and-drop nodes to reposition them on the map to make viewing and managing devices easier. You can use drag-and-drop editing in the following ways:

- You can move the entire map around the pane by clicking in any spot in the background, holding down the left mouse key and dragging the mouse. The map will be dragged around by the spot you initially clicked on.
- You can use your mouse to select and move nodes within a map. To edit and move nodes around the map, first enter Nodes mode by selecting the **Edit**: **[Nodes]** button. In Nodes mode:
 - To select a node, left-mouse click on it.
 - To select multiple nodes, hold down the **<Shift>** key and left-mouse click on each node.
 - To select a node and all nodes that are relatives of that node, double click on a node. The relatives of a node include all nodes that connect the node to the root node of the map (e.g. the parent of the node, the parent of the parent, etc) and all subordinate nodes (e.g. the children of the node, the children, etc).
 - To select a node and all subordinate nodes, hold down the **<Shift>** key and double click on a node.
 - To select and box multiple adjacent nodes, hold down the **<Shift>** key, hold down the left mouse key, place the cursor on a spot on the background of the map, and drag the mouse to outline nodes in a box. You can then move these nodes around the screen as a group.
 - To reposition the nodes on the map, hold down the left mouse button and drag the node to its new position. Release the mouse button to "drop" the nodes.
 - To save the new node positions, select the **Edit**: **[Save]** button.
 - To toggle on and off drag-and-drop editing, select the Edit: [Nodes] button.
 - To return the nodes to their previous positions, select the **[Revert]** button.

For example, SL1 might map a device group in a tree view in the following format:



Using the Edit: [Nodes] button, you can rearrange the devices to look similar to the following format:

Device Group M		eset Guide
Zoom:		
+	Column Sold Sold Arrange [Tree] Daplay Extended Daplay Extended Column Column <th< th=""><th></th></th<>	
Fit Center	Windows 2003 1 St with St with Street State Sta	🔿 🤌
Edit: Nodes Shapes Text Images Save Revert		
Layers: Nodes: Links: Shapes: Text: Images:		

Zoom Buttons

The zoom slider allows you to zoom in (expand) and zoom out (contract) on the currently displayed map. Moving the slider up increases the size of the map; moving the slider down decreases the size of the map. The zoom slider's behavior changes under the following conditions:

- 1. If nothing in the map is selected, SL1 zooms from the center of the pane.
- 2. If a device is selected, SL1 center zooms on the selected device.
- 3. If a group of devices are selected, SL1 center zooms on the selected group.

Device Group M	ap	Kiosk Reset Guide
Zoom:		
	Trace Filter Screenshot	
+		
Fit Center		
Content of the second seco		
Layers: Nodes: Links: Shapes: Text: Images:	A Constant of the constant of	

The following buttons appear under the Zoom slider:

• [Fit]. Adjusts the zoom to fit the entire map within the pane.





• [Center]. Centers the map in the middle of the pane. Does not change the zoom.





Edit Buttons

The Edit buttons toggle on and off menus in the top of the pane. These menus allow you to edit the currently displayed map.

- The **[Save]** button saves changes to the map.
- The [Revert] button ignores changes to the map and returns to the last saved version.

Nodes

Along with enabling drag-and-drop editing, the **[Nodes]** button also toggles the display of the Nodes menu at the top of the pane.

The Nodes menu includes the following:

- **Export Selected.** Creates a new device group containing the selected devices, which allows you to quickly create a Customized Map. When selected, a small dialog box appears, asking you to enter the name for the new device group. Enter a name and select the **[OK]** button.
- Scale. For the selected icons, increases or decreases size.
- Alpha. For the selected icons, mixes background color with node color; much like increasing or decreasing opacity/transparency.





- Arrange. Reflects the settings you chose in the Arrange Map field. You cannot edit this layout in the Nodes menu.
- Sort. Reflects the settings you chose in the Arrange Map field. You cannot edit this layout in the Nodes menu.
- **Display**. Specifies how device icons will appear in the map. If you select a single icon, the settings in this field affect only the selected icon. If you don't select an icon, the settings in this field affect all device icons in the map. Your choices are:
 - Extended. The device icon displays the icon associated with the device class, the name of the device category, the device name, and additional icons that allow you to view events on the device (⁽¹⁾), create a ticket about the device (⁽¹⁾), view the **Device Summary** page (⁽¹¹⁾), print a report about the device (⁽¹¹⁾), or view the **Device Properties** page (⁽²¹⁾).



• Simple. The device icon displays the icon associated with the device class, the name of the device category, and the device name.



Compact. The device icon displays the device name, and additional icons that allow you to view events on the device (¹), create a ticket about the device (¹), view the Device Summary page (¹), print a report about the device (¹), or view the Device Properties (²) page.



• Category. The device icon displays the device name and the icon associated with the device category for the device. The device icon also includes additional icons that allow you to view events on the device, create a ticket about the device, view the **Device Summary** page, print a report about the device, or view the **Device Properties** page.



• *Bullet*. The device icon displays the device name and a circle that is color-coded based on the device state.



Shapes

The **[Shapes]** button toggles the display of the Shapes menu at the top of the pane. The Shapes menu allows you to add manually-drawn shapes to a map.

When you place a shape or line on the map, SL1 automatically puts the shape or line behind the node icons and links on the map.



The Shapes menu includes the following:



• Line. Select this icon to draw a line. Click with the left-mouse button to place the end of the line, and then hold down the left-mouse button and drag to draw the line.



• **Rectangle**. Select this icon to draw a rectangle. Click with the left-mouse button to place a corner, and then hold down the left-mouse button and drag to draw the rectangle.



• *Ellipse*. Select this icon to draw an ellipse. Click with the left-mouse button to place a corner, and then hold down the left-mouse button and drag to draw the ellipse.



• **Polygon**. Select this icon to draw a polygon. Click with the left-mouse button to place the first corner of the polygon, and then click with the left-mouse button to place the second corner. A line is drawn between the first and second corners. Continue adding corners by clicking with the left mouse button. To complete the polygon, click with the left-mouse button on the first corner.



• **Cloud**. Select this icon to draw a cloud. Click with the left mouse button to place the center of the cloud, and then hold down the left-mouse button to draw to increase or decrease the size and dimensions of the cloud.



• Polygon curve. Increases or decrease the curve of each connecting line in a polygon.



- **Delete**. Deletes the selected shape.
- Shape Opacity. Increases or decreases the shape's transparency/opacity.
- Scale Lines. When zooming in and out, specifies whether lines should increase and decrease relative to the map or relative to the pane.

• Line Thickness. Increases and decreases the shape's line thickness.

Device Group Map						
· · · ·	Com: 0					
Fit Center						
Shapes Text Images Save Revert						
Layers: Nodes: V Links: V Shapes: V Text: V Images: V						

• **Drag Handle icons**. For lines, these three icons affect the selected line. You can use the icons to determine if the ends of the line will be squared with drag handles on border, if the ends will be rounded with drag handles within the line, or if the ends will be squared with drag handles within the line.

96	Line Thickness 25px		96 -	Line Thickness 25px	•	1	96 •	Line Thickness 25px	Line	F
		ŀ						•	•	

• **Corner icons**. For shapes, these three icons affect the shape of the corners. You can use the icons to determine if corners will be right-angles, rounded, or snipped.



• Line. Allows you to select a color for the line. For shapes, allows you to select a color for the border lines.



- *Fill Mode*. Specifies how you want to fill shapes. Choices are:
 - Flat Color. Shape is filled with a single color, specified in **Fill 1**.
 - *Linear Blend*. Shape is filled with a blend of two colors, *Fill* 1 and *Fill* 2. You can specify the angle of the blend in the *Blend Angle* field.
 - Radial Bland. Shape is filled with a blend of two colors. Fill 1 fills the center. Fill 2 fills the edges.

- **Blend Angle**. If you selected *Linear Blend* in the **Fill Mode** field, specifies the angle where the blending occurs.
- *Fill 1*. Allows you to select the first color to use as a fill.
- Fill 2. Allows you to select the second color to use as a fill.



- To select a shape, left-mouse click on one of its lines (but not the handles). The shape will glow when selected and the handles will turn red.
- To change the size or shape of a shape, left-mouse click on its handles (dots in each corner or at each end), hold down the left-mouse button, and drag.
- To move a shape, left-mouse click on a line (but not the handles), hold down the left-mouse button, and drag.

Text

The **[Text]** button toggles the display of the Text menu at the top of the pane. The Text menu allows you to add text to a map.

When you place text in a map, SL1 automatically puts the text in front of or over the node icons and links on the map.

NOTE: Text zooms and pans (moves) with the map.

The Text menu includes the following:

• Add. Adds a text box, where you can enter text. You can enter text in the bottom pane of the text box.



- To select a text box, left-mouse click in the pane labeled "Text Block".
- **To position the text box**, left-mouse click in the pane labeled "Text Block", hold down the mouse button, and drag the text box.
- **To resize the text box**, left-mouse click on the lower-right corner, hold down the mouse button, and drag.
- To close the text box without saving, left-mouse click on the "x" in the upper right.

NOTE: The Text Block box always appears around the text when in Text mode.

• **Delete**. Deletes the text box from the map.

• **B/I/U**. You can toggle on and off text style (bold, italic, or underline) using these buttons. The selected text and all subsequent text will use the selected style (bold, italic, or underline) until the button is toggled again. When a style is active, the button is red. When a style has been toggled off, the button is black.

Opacity
× etwork.

• Sans Serif/Serif/Monospace. The selected text and all subsequent text will use the selected font.

B / U = = = = = Monospace 12 ■	Scale
Text Block <u>This is a map of routers in ou</u> <u>network.</u>	X <u>I</u> r

• Justify (left/centered/right/justified). You can toggle on and off text justification for all text in a paragraph or line of text. The selected text and all subsequent text will use the selected justification until the justification is toggled again. When a justification is active, its button is red. When a justification has been toggled off, its button is black.

B / U = = = = = ■ Monospace 12	Scale
Text Block	×
<u>This is a map of routers in</u> <u>network.</u>	our

• Font Size. The selected text and all subsequent text will use the selected font size from the drop-down list.

B / U = = = = Monospace 28 ■	Scale
Text Block This is a m of routers our network	in

• Color. The selected text and all subsequent text will use the selected color.



• Scale. Increases or decreases the size of the text box and the text in the text box.

• Opacity. Increases and decreases the transparency/opacity of the text.



Images

The **[Images]** button toggles the display of the Images menu at the top of the pane. The Images menu allows you to add an imported image to a map.

When you place an image in the map, SL1 automatically puts the image behind the node icons and links on the map.

NOTE: Images zoom and pan (move) with the map.

NOTE: ScienceLogic recommends you upload images to SL1 when possible. Images inserted by supplying a URL will stretch when resized, regardless of the behavior specified in the **Resize Behavior** field.

The Images menu includes the following options:

• Add. Displays the Image Selection modal page. In this page you can manually enter the URL of an image to use, browse your local computer to locate an image to upload, or select from images already loaded onto the SL1 system.





When the image is added to the map, the image is surrounded by an image box:

- To select an image, left-mouse click in the pane labeled with the image name.
- **To position the image box**, left-mouse click in the pane labeled with the image name, hold down the mouse button, and drag the text box.
- **To resize the image box**, left-mouse click on the lower-right corner, hold down the mouse button, and drag.
- To close the image box without saving, left-mouse click on the "x" in the upper right.
- **Delete**. Deletes the selected image.
- Scale. Increases or decreases the size of the image box and the image.
- Alpha. Increases or decreases the transparency/opacity of an image.



- Resize Behavior. Specifies whether resizing the image will stretch the image or tile the image.
- Border Color. Select a border color for the image.
- Border Weight. Increases or decreases the line weight of the border.
- Border Opacity. Increases or decreases the transparency/opacity of the border.

Layers

The Layers checkboxes allow you to select the items to include in the currently displayed map. By default, all the checkboxes are selected, meaning that all items will appear in the map. You can select or unselect one or more of the checkboxes.
To save your selections in the Layers checkboxes, select the Edit: **[Save]** button.

- Nodes. Toggles the display of devices in the map.
- Links. Toggles the display of links in the map.
- Shapes. Toggles the display of hand-drawn shapes in the map (drawn with Edit: [Shapes]).
- Text. Toggles the display of manually entered text in the map.
- *Images*. Toggles the display of imported images in the map.



Chapter



Device Maps

Overview

Device maps allow you to view devices by organization, device group, category, and component devices. This makes it easy to visualize and manage devices. You can view and customize these maps, including adding images and text, and can move individual or multiple devices to display the map for your needs. However, you cannot add or delete devices from the device maps. To add or remove devices from the device maps, you must change the organization for a device, change the device group for a device, change the device category for a device, or delete or discover a component device.

NOTE: Some topics in this chapter are relevant to the classic user interface of SL1 only. For more information about using Classic Maps in the SL1 user interface, see the *Maps* manual.

Use the following menu options to navigate the SL1 user interface:

- To view a pop-out list of menu options, click the menu icon (三).
- To view a page containing all the menu options, click the Advanced menu icon (…).

This chapter includes the following topics:

Device Group Maps	
Viewing a Device Group Map	
Filtering Nodes in a Device Group Map (Classic User Interface Only)	
Organizational Maps	
Viewing an Organizational Map	43
Filtering Nodes in an Organizational Map (Classic User Interface Only)	
Editing a Link (Classic User Interface Only)	45

Device Category Maps	45
Viewing a Device Category Map	46
Filtering Nodes in a Device Category Map (Classic User Interface Only)	46
Component Maps	. 48
Viewing a Component Map	48
Filtering Nodes in a Component Map (Classic User Interface Only)	49
Adding Devices from Another Component Tree to the Component Map	50

Device Group Maps

A device group is a user defined group of devices. Device groups make it easy to configure and manage multiple devices. You can define and edit the configuration of device groups using templates. SL1 will automatically update each view in the **Device Group Map** page (Maps > Classic Maps > Device Maps > Device Groups) as new devices are added to device groups, and as new device groups are defined. SL1 also updates each view with the latest status and event information.

The **Device Group Map** page allows you to view the member devices in each device group and also view the relationships between device groups and their sub-groups.

The **Device Group Map** page contains buttons, tools, and icons to help view and manage the maps. To learn more about buttons, tools, and icons in device maps, see the section on *Buttons, Tools, Icons and Customization*.

Viewing a Device Group Map

You can view a device group map from the **Device Group Map** page. To view an device group map:

- 1. Go to the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps).
- 2. Expand the sections for Device Maps > Device Groups, and then select a device group. The **Device Group Map** page appears and displays a map of the organization and its member devices:



- The blank field in the upper right allows you to find one or more devices in the map. You can enter a string, and SL1 will highlight only the devices that have a device name that matches the string.
- Each device group and each member device appears as an icon.
- Each view contains a parent device group, represented by an icon with a cloud image. All devices and sub-groups radiate from this device group.

- Each member device is connected to its device group with a line. The color of the line specifies the device's current state. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the device.
- When the view appears, you can view and reposition the components. The view can be edited and rearranged using drag-and-drop features. Devices and sub-groups can be repositioned for easier reading, if necessary.
- Mousing over a device displays its name, IP address, device type, and device category.
- Mousing over a device group displays its name.
- To toggle between the view of the parent device group and the view of a sub-group, you can select a view from the drop-down menu in the upper right.

Filtering Nodes in a Device Group Map (Classic User Interface Only)

You can use the Filter tool to filter the nodes that are included in the current map.

Selecting the Filter icon () toggles on and off the display of the Node Filters checkboxes.

These checkboxes allow you to filter the nodes included in a map based on whether a device or connection is managed or unmanaged in SL1, whether the node is part of a device group, the status of the device (healthy, notice, minor, major, critical), or the device category assigned to the device.

To use the Filter tool:

- 1. In the classic user interface, go to the **[Views]** tab and select a view (map).
- 2. After the map is displayed, select the Filter tool () in the upper left.
- 3. SL1 displays a pane with the Node Filters checkboxes.
 - Select a checkbox to include the devices in the map.
 - Unselect a checkbox to remove the devices from the map.

- 4. You can select or unselect one or more of the following filters:
 - **Managed Devices**. If selected, the map will include devices that are managed by SL1. Managed devices are those that have been discovered with discovery.
 - **Unknown Connections**. If selected, the map will include connections that are "unknown" to SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a connection but cannot provide details on all or one end of the connection.
 - Device Groups. If selected, the map will include device groups.
 - Unmanaged Devices. If selected, the map will include devices that are not managed by SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a device but has not performed discovery on that device.
 - *Healthy*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "healthy". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "healthy".
 - Notice. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "notice". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "notice".
 - *Minor*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "minor". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "minor".
 - **Major**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "major". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "major".
 - **Critical**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "critical". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "critical".
 - **Unknown**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "unknown". This means that SL1 cannot determine the most severe event associated with the device.
 - List of Device Categories. The pane includes a checkbox for each device category associated with the current map. For each selected device category, the map will include devices with that device category.

Organizational Maps

The **Organizational Map** page allows you to view devices by organization. This makes it easy to visualize and manage devices in organizations. If devices in the organization include relationships created by Dynamic Applications, these relationships are displayed in the map. If devices in this organization include CDP, LLDP, layer-2, or layer-3 relationships, they are included in the map.

All elements, policies, events, tickets, and users in SL1 are associated with an organization. An organization is a group for managing elements and user accounts. You can define organizations by geographic area, departments, types of devices, or any structure that works best for your needs. The minimum characteristics of an organization consist of:

- A unique name
- Users who are members of the organization
- Elements, such as devices, associated with the organization

SL1 automatically updates the Organizational Maps as new devices are added to organizations and as new organizations are defined. SL1 also updates each map with the latest status and event information.

To select an Organizational Map, go to the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps), expand the links for Device Maps > Organizational, and then select an organization. The **Organizational Map** page appears and displays a map of the selected organization and its devices.

Viewing an Organizational Map

You can view an organizational map from the **Organizational Map** page. To view an organizational map:

- 1. Go to the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps).
- 2. Expand the sections for Device Maps > Organizational, and then select an organization. The **Organizational Map** page appears and displays a map of the organization and its member devices:



- The blank field in the upper right allows you to find one or more devices in the map. You can enter a string, and SL1 will highlight only the devices that have a device name that matches the string.
- Each member device appears as an icon in the map.
- The Organizational Map page for an organization also displays the relationships between devices in the organization. This includes:
 - Layer-2 devices and their clients
 - Layer-3 devices and layer-2 devices
 - Component devices and their parents, e.g. virtual machines and their hypervisors
 - Network devices that use CDP (Cisco Discovery Protocol) and devices that are specified as neighbors in the CDP tables
 - Network devices that use LLDP (Link Layer Discovery Protocol) and devices that are specified as neighbors in the CDP tables

- Device relationships created with Dynamic Applications
- Manually created parent-child relationships that affect event correlation
- 3. When the map appears, you can view and reposition the components. The map can be edited and rearranged using drag-and-drop features. Devices can be repositioned for easier reading, if necessary.
- 4. Mousing over a device displays its name, IP address, device type, and device category.

Filtering Nodes in an Organizational Map (Classic User Interface Only)

You can use the Filter tool to filter the nodes that are included in the current map.

Selecting the Filter icon (\mathbb{Y}) toggles on and off the display of the Node Filters checkboxes.

These checkboxes allow you to filter the nodes included in a map based on whether a device or connection is managed or unmanaged in SL1, whether the node is part of a device group, the status of the device (healthy, notice, minor, major, critical), or the device category assigned to the device.

To use the Filter tool:

- 1. In the classic user interface, go to the **[Views]** tab and select a view (map).
- 2. After the map is displayed, select the Filter tool () in the upper left.
- 3. SL1 displays a pane with the Node Filters checkboxes.
 - Select a checkbox to include the devices in the map.
 - Unselect a checkbox to remove the devices from the map.
- 4. You can select or unselect one or more of the following filters:
 - **Managed Devices**. If selected, the map will include devices that are managed by SL1. Managed devices are those that have been discovered with discovery.
 - Unknown Connections. If selected, the map will include connections that are "unknown" to SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a connection but cannot provide details on all or one end of the connection.
 - Device Groups. If selected, the map will include device groups.
 - Unmanaged Devices. If selected, the map will include devices that are not managed by SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a device but has not performed discovery on that device.
 - Unconnected Nodes. If selected, the map will include devices that are not connected to core devices. The device group defines the core devices. Those devices that are statically assigned to the device group are core devices. For dynamic rules in a device group, the seed devices (those devices that match the specified criteria for the group) are core devices.
 - *Healthy*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "healthy". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "healthy".

- **Notice**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "notice". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "notice".
- *Minor*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "minor". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "minor".
- *Major*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "major". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "major".
- **Critical**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "critical". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "critical".
- **Unknown**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "unknown". This means that SL1 cannot determine the most severe event associated with the device.
- List of Device Categories. The pane includes a checkbox for each device category associated with the current map. For each selected device category, the map will include devices with that device category.
- **Component Mapping**. If selected, the map will include devices with links that represent relationships created by dynamic applications.
- List of Virtual Relationships. List of all virtual relationships in the map. If selected, the map will include devices with links that represent relationships created by applications like VMware or Azure.

Editing a Link (Classic User Interface Only)

If SL1 discovers inaccurate information about a link, you can manually edit the link's properties. You can also edit a link that was manually created.

To edit a link in a Customized Map:

- 1. In the classic user interface, go to the [Views] tab and select the Customized Map you want to edit.
- 2. When the Customized Map appears in the pane, select the Edit: [Links] button.
- 3. Select the link you want to edit.
- 4. Select the *Edit Link* icon in the Link menu (at the top of the pane).
- 5. When the Link Editor modal page appears, you can edit the values in each field.
- 6. To save your changes, select the Edit: [Save] button.
- 7. The manually edited link will be saved in SL1. SL1 will not overwrite the edited link.

Device Category Maps

The **Device Category Map** page allows you to view devices by device category. This makes it easy to visualize and manage devices.

A device category is a logical categorization of devices by primary function. SL1 uses device categories to group related devices in reports and views.

Device categories are paired with device classes to organize and describe discovered devices. Device class usually describes the manufacturer. Device category describes the function of the hardware. For example, a device might have a device class of "Microsoft Windows 2000 Server" and a device category of "servers".

To select a Device Category map, go to the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps), expand the links for Device Maps > Categories, and then select a device category. The **Device Category Map** page appears and displays a map of the selected device category and its devices.

Viewing a Device Category Map

You can view a device category map from the **Device Category Map** page. To view a device category map:

- 1. Go to the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps).
- 2. Expand the links for Device Maps > Categories and then select a device category. The **Device Category Map** page appears and displays a map of the device category and its member devices:



- The blank field in the upper right allows you to find one or more devices in the map. You can enter a string, and SL1 will highlight only the devices that have a device name that matches the string.
- Each member device appears as an icon in the map.
- When the map appears, you can view and reposition the components. The map can be edited and re-arranged using drag-and-drop features. Devices can be repositioned for easier reading, if necessary.
- Mousing over a device displays its name, IP address, device type, and device category.

Filtering Nodes in a Device Category Map (Classic User Interface Only)

You can use the Filter tool to filter the nodes that are included in the current map.

Selecting the Filter icon () toggles on and off the display of the Node Filters checkboxes.

These checkboxes allow you to filter the nodes included in a map based on whether a device or connection is managed or unmanaged in SL1, whether the node is part of a device group, the status of the device (healthy, notice, minor, major, critical), or the device category assigned to the device.

To use the Filter tool:

- 1. In the classic user interface, go to the **[Views]** tab and select a view (map).
- 2. After the map is displayed, select the Filter tool (У) in the upper left.
- 3. SL1 displays a pane with the Node Filters checkboxes.
 - Select a checkbox to include the devices in the map.
 - Unselect a checkbox to remove the devices from the map.
- 4. You can select or unselect one or more of the following filters:
 - **Managed Devices**. If selected, the map will include devices that are managed by SL1. Managed devices are those that have been discovered with discovery.
 - **Unknown Connections**. If selected, the map will include connections that are "unknown" to SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a connection but cannot provide details on all or one end of the connection.
 - Device Groups. If selected, the map will include device groups.
 - Unmanaged Devices. If selected, the map will include devices that are not managed by SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a device but has not performed discovery on that device.
 - *Healthy*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "healthy". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "healthy".
 - Notice. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "notice". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "notice".
 - *Minor*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "minor". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "minor".
 - **Major**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "major". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "major".
 - **Critical**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "critical". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "critical".
 - **Unknown**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "unknown". This means that SL1 cannot determine the most severe event associated with the device.
 - List of Device Categories. The pane includes a checkbox for each device category associated with the current map. For each selected device category, the map will include devices with that device category.

Component Maps

The **Component Map** page allows you to view devices by root node and also view the relationships between root nodes, parent components, and child components. This map makes it easy to visualize and manage root nodes and their components.

NOTE: User accounts of type "user" can view only root nodes and device components that belong to their organization(s).

SL1 uses Dynamic Applications to retrieve data from a management device and discover each entity managed by that management device. SL1 then uses that retrieved data to create a device for each managed entity. In some cases, the managed entities are nested.

- In SL1, a managed entity is called a **component device**. A component device is an entity that runs under the control of a physical management device.
- In SL1, the *root device* is the physical device that manages one or more component devices.
- In SL1, a **parent device** is a device that has associated entities modeled as component devices. A parent device can be either a root device or another component device.

For example, in a Cisco UCS system, SL1 might discover a physical server that hosts the UCS manager. SL1 might discover a chassis as a component device. The chassis is a child device to the physical server; the physical server is the root device. SL1 might also discover a blade as a component device that is part of the chassis. The blade is a child device to the chassis. The chassis is the parent device.

SL1 automatically updates the Component Map as new component devices are discovered. SL1 also updates each map with the latest status and event information.

Viewing a Component Map

You can view a component map from the Component Map page. To view a Component Map:

1. Go to the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps).

2. Expand the links for Device Maps > Components and then select a root node. The **Device Component Map** page appears and displays the map of the root node and its component devices:



- The blank field in the upper right allows you to find one or more devices in the map. You can enter a string, and SL1 will highlight only the devices that have a device name that matches the string.
- Each root node and component device appears as an icon.
- Each map contains a root node. All parent and child devices radiate from this root node.
- Each component device is connected to its parent with a line. The color of the line specifies the device's current state. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the device.
- When the map appears, you can view and reposition the icons. The view can be edited and rearranged using drag-and-drop features. Root devices and components can be repositioned for easier reading, if necessary.
- Mousing over a device displays its name, IP address (for physical devices), device type, and device category.

NOTE: For a user of type User, you can view only root nodes and device components that belong to your organization(s).

Filtering Nodes in a Component Map (Classic User Interface Only)

You can use the Filter tool to filter the nodes that are included in the current map.

Selecting the Filter icon () toggles on and off the display of the Node Filters checkboxes.

These checkboxes allow you to filter the nodes included in a map based on whether a device or connection is managed or unmanaged in SL1, whether the node is part of a device group, the status of the device (healthy, notice, minor, major, critical), or the device category assigned to the device.

To use the Filter tool:

- 1. In the classic user interface, go to the **[Views]** tab and select a view (map).
- 2. After the map is displayed, select the Filter tool () in the upper left.
- 3. SL1 displays a pane with the Node Filters checkboxes.
 - Select a checkbox to include the devices in the map.
 - Unselect a checkbox to remove the devices from the map.
- 4. You can select or unselect one or more of the following filters:
 - **Managed Devices**. If selected, the map will include devices that are managed by SL1. Managed devices are those that have been discovered with discovery.
 - **Unknown Connections**. If selected, the map will include connections that are "unknown" to SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a connection but cannot provide details on all or one end of the connection.
 - Device Groups. If selected, the map will include device groups.
 - **Unmanaged Devices**. If selected, the map will include devices that are not managed by SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a device but has not performed discovery on that device.
 - *Healthy*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "healthy". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "healthy".
 - Notice. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "notice". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "notice".
 - Minor. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "minor". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "minor".
 - *Major*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "major". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "major".
 - **Critical**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "critical". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "critical".
 - **Unknown**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "unknown". This means that SL1 cannot determine the most severe event associated with the device.
 - List of Device Categories. The pane includes a checkbox for each device category associated with the current map. For each selected device category, the map will include devices with that device category.

Adding Devices from Another Component Tree to the Component Map

You can add a device from another component tree to the map of the current component device.

For example, suppose you have a UCS system. Suppose you are running an ESX server and VMs on one of the blades of the UCS system:



You can add the device where the ESX server resides to the map of the UCS system. To do this:

- 1. Go to the **Component Map** page (Maps > Classic Maps > Device Maps > Components).
- 2. Expand the list of maps. Find the component map to which you want to add a device.
- 3. Select the [Nodes] button. Select the Add Dev icon (in the upper left).
- 4. In the **Device Browser** modal page, select the root node you want to add to the component map. Select the **[Add To Map]** button.

NOTE: When you complete these steps, the SL1 system will automatically add all the child devices for the newly added node to the map.

- 5. Select the [Links] button. Click on the parent device and then click on the newly added child device.
- 6. The link you created is an Event Correlation Override link. If you want to manually define a parent device and child device for two devices that do not share a Layer-2 link, a Layer-3 link, a CDP link, an LLDP link, or a VMware relationship, you can create an Event Correlation Override link between the devices. Additionally, you can then define an event hierarchy for these devices.
- 7. Select the **[Save]** button.
- 8. Select the **[Reset]** button to view the changes to the map.

Chapter

4

Topology Maps

Overview

👃 Download manual as PDF

During discovery, SL1 automatically discovers all networks and subnets in your infrastructure. SL1 then creates graphical representations of these discovered networks and subnets to create topology maps. SL1 creates four types of topology maps:

- Layer-2 Maps
- CDP Maps
- LLDP Maps
- Layer-3 Maps

This chapter will describe each type of map, and how to view and edit each topology map.

Use the following menu options to navigate the SL1 user interface:

- To view a pop-out list of menu options, click the menu icon (三).
- To view a page containing all the menu options, click the Advanced menu icon (…).

This chapter includes the following topics:

Layer-2 Maps	54
Viewing a Layer-2 Map	54
Filtering Nodes in a Layer-2 Map	
Confirming or Deleting an Unconfirmed Link	.57

Creating, Editing and Deleting a Link	60
Creating a Link	61
Editing a Link	63
Deleting a Link	
Customizing the Display of a Layer-2 Map	64
Event Correlation and Precedence	64
CDP Maps	64
Viewing a CDP Map	65
Filtering the Nodes in a CDP Map	
Creating, Editing, Confirming and Deleting a Link	66
Customizing the Display of a CDP Map	67
Event Correlation and Precedence	67
LLDP Maps	
Viewing an LLDP Map	
Filtering the Nodes in a LLDP Map	
Creating, Editing, Confirming and Deleting a Link	70
Customizing the Display of a LLDP Map	71
Event Correlation and Precedence	71
Layer-3 Maps	71
Viewing a Layer-3 Map	71
Creating, Editing, Confirming and Deleting a Link	73
Customizing the Display of a Layer-3 Map	74

Layer-2 Maps

The **Layer-2 Maps** page displays a network map, where you can view details and relationships in any layer-2 network that has been discovered by SL1.

Layer-2 networks are unrouted subnets, where devices are identified by MAC addresses (as opposed to routed networks, where devices are identified by IP address). Layer-2 links communicate over the Data Link Layer and use Ethernet and MAC addresses to communicate with devices in the same LAN or WAN.

A layer-2 network map can include:

- Devices of each device category defined in SL1.
- Unknown devices are represented with cloud icons and labeled as "unknown".
- Links between devices.
- Links between networks (created with switches or routers).
- Unknown connections are represented with cloud icons and labeled as "unknown".
- SL1 automatically updates the map as new devices are discovered. SL1 also updates the map with the latest status and event information.

Viewing a Layer-2 Map

To view a layer-2 map:

- 1. Go to the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps).
- 2. Expand the links for Topology Maps > Layer-2 and then select a network. Depending on the network you select, the layer-2 map will display the following information:



- The blank field in the upper right allows you to find one or more devices in the map. You can enter a string, and SL1 will highlight only the devices that have a device name that matches the string.
- Each device appears as an icon in the map. If a device on a map appears with a question mark icon (?), this means that SL1 has not discovered this device but can detect that the device is linked to a device that SL1 has discovered.

NOTE: If your account is of type "user", you can view only devices that belong to the same organization(s) as your user account.

• Each network device is connected to its parent device with a line. The color of the line specifies the current state of the connection at each end. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the network connection. For example, a link line that is red on the child end and yellow on the parent end indicates that the interface has a critical event on the child end and a minor event on the parent end.

NOTE: If all or part of a link is white, this means that SL1 could not determine the interface state or device state for that end of the link.

- If you see a cloud icon, this means that SL1 has discovered a connection between two devices but requires confirmation of the link. This occurs when there is an undiscovered device connected between two discovered devices.
- Each device icon has a color outline. The color of the outline specifies the current state of the device. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the device.

- When the map appears, you can view and reposition the components. The map can be edited and rearranged using drag-and-drop features. Devices and links can be repositioned for easier reading, if necessary. For details, see the section on *Buttons, Tools, Icons and Customization*.
- Mousing over a device displays its name, IP address, device type, and device category.
- Mousing over a link displays as much of the following information as SL1 can retrieve about both the parent and child interface: MAC address, vendor, interface name, interface alias, and IP address.
- If the nodes in the map are using Extended display (Edit: [Nodes]), you can click on an icon to view events on the device (¹), create a ticket about the device (²), view the Device Summary page (¹), print a report about the device (²), or view the Device Properties page (²).



Filtering Nodes in a Layer-2 Map

You can use the Filter tool to filter the nodes that are included in the current map.

Selecting the Filter icon () toggles on and off the display of the Node Filters checkboxes.

These checkboxes allow you to filter the nodes included in a map based on whether a device or connection is managed or unmanaged in SL1, whether the node is part of a device group, the status of the device (healthy, notice, minor, major, critical), or the device category assigned to the device.

NOTE: By default, each filter is already selected except for **Unmanaged Devices**. By default, all devices and connections except unmanaged devices will be included in the map. This means that by default, unmanaged devices will not appear in the map until you select the **Unmanaged Devices** checkbox.

To use the Filter tool:

- 1. Go to Classic Maps > Topology Maps > Layer-2 and select the map you want to view.
- 2. After the map is displayed, select the Filter tool (\mathbb{V}) in the upper left.
- 3. SL1 displays a pane with the Node Filters checkboxes.
 - Select a checkbox to include the devices in the map.
 - Unselect a checkbox to remove the devices from the map.

- 4. You can select or unselect one or more of the following filters:
 - **Managed Devices**. If selected, the map will include devices that are managed by SL1. Managed devices are those that have been discovered with discovery.
 - Unknown Connections. If selected, the map will include connections that are "unknown" to SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a connection but cannot provide details on all or one end of the connection.
 - Device Groups. If selected, the map will include device groups.
 - Unmanaged Devices. If selected, the map will include devices that are not managed by SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a device but has not performed discovery on that device.
 - *Healthy*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "healthy". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "healthy".
 - Notice. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "notice". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "notice".
 - *Minor*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "minor". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "minor".
 - **Major**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "major". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "major".
 - **Critical**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "critical". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "critical".
 - **Unknown**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "unknown". This means that SL1 cannot determine the most severe event associated with the device.
 - List of Device Categories. The pane includes a checkbox for each device category associated with the current map. For each selected device category, the map will include devices with that device category.

Confirming or Deleting an Unconfirmed Link

If SL1 discovers a connection between an undiscovered device connected between two or more discovered devices, it will create an unconfirmed link, represented by a cloud icon. You can confirm or delete this link. If you confirm the link, SL1 will not override it, and the link will be displayed in all maps featuring the devices.

The two most common causes of an unknown connection are:

- An interface associated with the ambiguous port on the network switch or bridge is connected to another network switch or bridge that is not discovered in SL1.
- The network switch or bridge is reporting incorrect information. The network switch or bridge detects multiple devices associated with a single port and interface. One of those devices is connected to the interface associated with that port; the other devices reported for the ambiguous port are actually connected to a different interface on the network switch or bridge.

Perform the following steps to determine the cause of the unknown connection:

- 1. Open the Layer-2 topology map that displays the unknown connection.
- 2. Select the link that connects the two devices with the "Unknown Connection" cloud.
- 3. Hover over the link that connects the network switch or bridge to the "Unknown Connection" cloud. The **Link Details** pop-up window will appear. The **Link Details** pop-up window displays information about the parent interface (the interface on the network switch or bridge associated with the ambiguous port).
- 4. Based on your knowledge of the network and the tools you have available to you, determine what is connected to that interface.
- 5. If the interface is connected to a network switch or bridge that is not discovered in SL1, discover that network switch or bridge.
- 6. If the interface is connected to one of the possible connections identified by SL1, confirm that connection.

To confirm an unconfirmed link:

- 1. Go to the **Topology Maps** pages (Maps > Classic Maps > Topology Maps).
- 2. If the map you are viewing contains an unconfirmed link, it will be represented by a cloud icon:



The cloud icon will be connected to one parent device and multiple child devices. SL1 has determined that for each cloud icon, there exists one parent-child relationship, but cannot fully determine which child device link is correct. The links between the cloud icon and the child devices represent all possible connections for the link. You must determine which of the possible connections is correct

- 3. Select the **[Edit:Links]**, and then double click the path between the known and unknown device you want to confirm. The **Link Editor** modal page appears.
- 4. Select Show Relationships.

Subnet Map (L		Kiosk Reset Guide
Zoom:	Edit Link Del Link Help:Create a link between two nodes by first clicking the desired parent node, then the child node	
Fit Center Nodes Shapes Text Images Shapes Text Shapes Text Shapes Text Images Shapes Text Images		

5. In the Node Relationships pane, select Confirm Relationship.

Link Editor	×	
Topology Switch A (Device)	Topology Device 2 (Device)	
Parent	Child	
Link Options:		
Link Color: Auto (Interfa	ce State then Device State)	
Link Color Source: Parent and Child		
Label Source: Combined (if available) 🔽 Percentage 🔽		
Label Scale:	100%	
Node Relationships		
Unconfirmed Layer 2 Relationship	×	
Fa0/11	HP Network Team #1	
Parent	Child	
VLAN: 1		
Confirm F	Relationship	
Hide Relationships		

6. The link will be confirmed, and the other possible links will automatically be deleted.

Subnet Map (L2)		Kiosk Reset Guide
Zoom:		
	Trace Filter Screenshot	
†		
Fit		
Center	Ļ	
Links Shapes Text Images Save		
Revert		
Shapes: 🗹 Text: 🗹 Images: 🗹		

If the "unknown connection" cloud connected a switch or bridge to multiple devices and you confirmed that one of the connections was correct, the possible connections to the other devices will be removed. To create new connections for those other devices, perform the following steps:

- 1. Select the [Edit: Links] button.
- 2. Select the first device (typically a switch or bridge) and then the connected device.
- 3. A link is created between the two devices and the Link Editor modal page appears.
- 4. When the **Link Editor** modal page appears, select the **[Show Relationship]** button. In the expanded view, you can select the interface on the parent device and the interface on the child device for this topology record.
- 5. Select the **[Save]** button to save the new topology record.

You can also manually delete an unconfirmed link. To delete an unconfirmed link:

- 1. Go to the **Topology Maps** pages (Maps > Classic Maps > Topology Maps).
- 2. If the map you are viewing contains an unconfirmed link, it will be represented by a cloud icon.
- 3. Select the [Edit:Links], and click the path between the parent device and all possible child devices.
- 4. Select **[Del Link]** in the upper left of the page.
- 5. The links will be deleted, and will not be overwritten.

Creating, Editing and Deleting a Link

In a Layer-2 Map, you can create links between two devices, edit links between two devices, and delete links between two devices. You can also confirm a relationship between two devices.

In a Layer-2 Map, you can create only layer-2 links.

Creating a Link

If SL1 does not discover a layer-2 link, you can manually create the link in the appropriate layer-2 map. The manually created link will be saved in SL1. SL1 will not overwrite the new link.

To create a layer-2 link:

- 1. Go to Maps > Classic Maps > Topology Maps > Layer-2 and select a map.
- 2. Select the Edit: [Links] button.
- 3. Find the device icon for the parent device. Click on it.
- 4. Find the device icon for the child device. Click on it.
- 5. SL1 creates a link between the two icons.
- 6. When the Link Editor page appears, you can edit the values in the following fields:

Link Editor	×	
Topology Switch B (Device)	Topology Device 3 (Device)	
Parent	Child	
Link Options:		
Link Color: Auto (Interface State then Device State)		
Link Color Source: Parent and Ch	nild 🔽	
Label Source: Parent Outbou	und Utilization 💌 Percentage 💌	
Label Scale:	100%	
Show Relationships		

- **Device**. Displays the name of the device at one end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). A sibling relationship affects only the display of the map when the default arrangement options are used; the two devices will be on the same horizontal plane in the tree view or the same distance from the center point in the radial tree view.
- **Device**. Displays the name of the device at the other end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link).
- Link Color. Specifies how SL1 should color-code the link. The link can use either interface state or device state. Interface state reflects the event with the highest severity that is aligned with the interface. Device state means the event with the highest severity that is aligned with the device. Choices are:
 - Auto (Interface State then Device State). This is the default setting. If possible, SL1 will first use the interface state to color-code the link. If SL1 cannot determine the interface state, SL1 will use the device state to color-code the link. If you select Parent and Child in the **Link Color Source** field, each end of the link can have a different color.

- Interface State. SL1 will first use the interface state to color-code the link. If you select Parent and Child in the **Link Color Source** field, each end of the link can have a different color.
- Device State. SL1 will use the device state to color-code the link. If you select Parent and Child in the Link Color Source field, each end of the link can have a different color.

NOTE: If all or part of a link are white, this means that SL1 could not determine the interface state or device state for that end of the link.

- Link Color Source. Specifies whether SL1 will display the status of both interfaces or only one interface when displaying link status. Choices are:
 - Parent and Child. This is the default setting. Half the link will display the parent status and half the link will display the child status.
 - Parent Node Only. The link will be color-coded to display only the parent status.
 - Child Node Only. The link will be color-coded to display only the child status.
- Label Source. Specifies whether or not to include a label with the link and if so, the information to use in the label. Choices are:
 - Disabled. This is the default setting. SL1 will not include a label with this link.
 - Auto (based on relationships). Based on what information is available, SL1 will automatically select the label source that provides the most information.
 - Parent Interface Utilization. Specifies the label will display the utilization of the percent interface.
 - Child Interface Utilization. Specifies the label will display the utilization of the child interface.
 - Combined Link Utilization. Specifies the label will display the combined utilization of the percent and child interfaces.
- Label Scale. Allows you to set the size of the text box and text of the label in relation to the size of the link. You can use the slider to choose scale between 50% to 300%.

7. If you select [Show Relationships], you can define Layer-2 Relationships. Layer-2 relationships appear only in Customized Maps pages and Layer-2 maps pages. Layer-2 links use the Data Link Layer and allow devices in a WAN or LAN to communicate with one another. Layer-2 links use Ethernet and MAC addresses to communicate with devices in the same LAN or WAN. Layer-2 links are unrouted. For Layer-2 relationships, you can define the following:

Node Relationships		
Layer 2 Relationship	×	
Fa0/10	HP Network Team #1	
Parent	Child	
VLAN: 1		
Hide Relationships		

- Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
- Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
- VLAN. Displays the VLAN created by the link.
- 8. To save the new link, select the **Edit**: **[Save]** button.
- 9. The manually created link will be saved in SL1. SL1 will not overwrite the new link.

Editing a Link

If SL1 discovers inaccurate information about a link, you can manually edit the link's properties in the appropriate layer-2 map. The manually edited link will be saved in SL1. SL1 will not overwrite the changes to the link.

To edit a layer-2 link:

- 1. Go to Maps > Classic Maps > Topology Maps > Layer-2 and select a map.
- 2. Select the Edit: [Links] button.
- 3. Select the link you want to edit.
- 4. Select the Edit Link icon in the Link menu (at the top of the pane).
- 5. When the Link Editor page appears, you can edit the values in each field.

- 6. To save your changes, select the **Edit**: **[Save]** button.
- 7. The changes to the link will be saved in SL1. SL1 will not overwrite the edited link.

Deleting a Link

If SL1 discovers an incorrect layer-2 link, you can delete the link. You can also delete links that were created manually. When you delete a link from a layer-2 map, the change will be saved in SL1. The link will no longer be used for event correlation and will not appear in any maps or the device relationships page. SL1 will not re-add the link.

To delete a link:

- 1. Go to Maps > Classic Maps > Topology Maps > Layer-2.
- 2. Select the Edit: [Links] button.
- 3. Select the link you want to delete.
- 4. Select the **Delete Link** icon in the Link menu (at the top of the pane).
- 5. To save your changes, select the **Edit: [Save]** button.
- 6. The deleted relationship will be saved in SL1. SL1 will not overwrite the deleted relationship.

Customizing the Display of a Layer-2 Map

For details and examples on how to customize a Layer-2 Map, see Buttons, Tools, Icons and Customization.

Event Correlation and Precedence

For details on parent and child devices, event correlation and precedence, see the section on *Event Correlation* and *Precedence*.

CDP Maps

Cisco Discovery Protocol (CDP) allows discovery of Cisco hardware and allows Cisco hardware within the same LAN or WAN to share information about each other. This information includes the MAC address and IP address, the operating system, and information about the network interface. CDP is a Layer-2 protocol that uses the Data Link Layer and is unrouted. CDP can also run on legacy Hewlett Packard Hardware.

NOTE: For SL1 to create CDP maps, you must first enable the **Enable CDP Topology** checkbox in the **Behavior Settings** page. This checkbox tells SL1 to discover CDP relationships where possible.

If you enable **Use CDP Topology**, SL1 automatically discovers all CDP relationships in your infrastructure. SL1 then creates graphical representations of those discovered networks and subnets. These graphical representations are called Topology Views. The Classic Maps > Topology Maps pages allow you to view details and relationships in any network that has been discovered by SL1.

The **Subnet Map (CDP)** page displays a network map, where you can view details and relationships in any CDP network that has been discovered by SL1.

CDP maps show layer-2, unrouted subnets, where devices are identified by MAC addresses (as opposed to routed networks, where devices are identified by IP address).

A CDP map can include:

- Devices of each device category defined in SL1.
- Links between devices.
- Links between networks (created with switches or routers).
- SL1 automatically updates the map as new devices are discovered. SL1 also updates the map with the latest status and event information.

NOTE: Because CDP provides very accurate discovery details, links and relationships in CDP Maps take precedence over links and relationships in Layer-2 Maps.

Viewing a CDP Map

You can view a CDP map from the **Subnet Map (CDP)** page (Classic Maps > Topology Maps > CDP). To view a CDP map:

- 1. Go to the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps).
- 2. Expand the links for Topology Maps > CDP and then select a network. The **Subnet Map (CDP)** page appears and displays a map of the selected network.
- 3. Depending on the network you select, the CDP map will display the following information:



- The blank field in the upper right allows you to find one or more devices in the map. You can enter a string, and SL1 will highlight only the devices that have a device name that matches the string.
- Each device appears as an icon in the map.

NOTE: If your account is of type "user", you can view only devices that belong to the same organization(s) as your user account.

• Each network device is connected to its parent device with a line. The color of the line specifies the current state of the connection at each end. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the network connection. For example, a link line that is red on the child end and yellow on the parent end indicates that the interface has a critical event on the child end and a minor event on the parent end.

NOTE: If all or part of a link are white, this means that SL1 could not determine the interface state or device state for that end of the link.

- Each device icon has a color outline. The color of the outline specifies the current state of the device. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the device.
- When the map appears, you can view and reposition the components. The map can be edited and re-arranged using drag-and-drop features. Devices and links can be repositioned for easier reading, if necessary. For details, see *Buttons, Tools, Icons and Customization*.
- Mousing over a device displays its name, IP address, device type, and device category.
- Mousing over a link displays as much of the following information as SL1 can retrieve about both the parent and child interface: the MAC address, vendor, interface name, interface alias, and IP address.
- If the nodes in the map are using Extended display (Edit: Nodes), you can click on an icon to view events on the device (¹), create a ticket about the device (²), view the **Device Summary** page (¹), print a report about the device (²), or view the **Device Properties** page (²).

Filtering the Nodes in a CDP Map

You can filter the nodes in a CDP map. This feature works the same as Layer-2 map. To learn more about filtering nodes in a CDP map, see the section *Filtering Nodes in a Layer-2 map*.

Creating, Editing, Confirming and Deleting a Link

You can confirm or delete unconfirmed links in a CDP map. To learn more about confirming or deleting links in a CDP map, see the section on **Confirming or Deleting an Unconfirmed Link**.

You can create links between nodes in a CDP map. The **Link Editor** pane is the same as described for Layer-2 maps. To learn more about the **Link Editor** pane, see the section on **Creating**, **Editing**, **and Deleting a Link**.

If you select **[Show Relationships]** for a CDP link, you can view CDP relationships. CDP relationships appear only in Customized Maps pages and CDP maps pages. Cisco Discovery Protocol (CDP) allows discovery of Cisco hardware and allows Cisco hardware within the same LAN or WAN to share information about each other. This information includes the MAC address and IP address, the operating system, and information about the network interface. CDP uses is a Layer-2 protocol that uses the Data Link Layer and is unrouted. CDP can also run on legacy Hewlett Packard Hardware. For CDP relationships, you can define the following:

Node Relationships	×	
Parent Child		
VLAN: 1		
Hide Relationships		

- Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
- Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
- VLAN. Displays the VLAN created by the link.

For more information on how edit and delete links in a CDP map, see the section on **Creating**, **Editing**, **and Deleting** a Link.

Customizing the Display of a CDP Map

For details and examples on how to customize a CDP map, see Buttons, Tools, Icons and Customization.

Event Correlation and Precedence

For details on parent and child devices, event correlation and precedence, see the section on *Event Correlation* and *Precedence*.

LLDP Maps

Link Layer Discovery Protocol (LLDP) allows discovery of Cisco hardware and allows Cisco hardware within the same LAN or WAN to share information about each other. This information includes the MAC address and IP address, the operating system, and information about the network interface. LLDP is a layer-2 protocol that uses the Data Link Layer and is unrouted.

NOTE: For SL1 to create LLDP maps, you must first select the **Enable LLDP Topology** checkbox in the **Behavior Settings** page. This checkbox tells SL1 to discover LLDP relationships where possible.

If you enable **Enable LLDP Topology**, SL1 automatically discovers all LLDP relationships in your infrastructure. SL1 then creates graphical representations of those discovered networks and subnets. These graphical representations are called Topology Views. The Classic Maps > Topology Maps pages allow you to view details and relationships in any network that has been discovered by SL1.

The **Subnet Map (LLDP)** page displays a network map, where you can view details and relationships in any LLDP network that has been discovered by SL1.

LLDP maps show layer-2, unrouted subnets, where devices are identified by MAC addresses (as opposed to routed networks, where devices are identified by IP address).

A LLDP map can include:

- Devices of each device category defined in SL1.
- Links between devices.
- Links between networks (created with switches or routers).
- SL1 automatically updates the map as new devices are discovered. SL1 also updates the map with the latest status and event information.

NOTE: Because LLDP provides very accurate discovery details, links and relationships in LLDP Maps take precedence over links and relationships in layer-2 Maps.

Viewing an LLDP Map

You can view an LLDP map from the **Subnet Map (LLDP)** page (Classic Maps > Topology Maps > LLDP). To view an LLDP map:

- 1. Go to the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps).
- 2. Expand the links for Topology Maps > LLDP and then select a network. The **Subnet Map (LLDP)** page appears and displays a map of the selected network.

3. Depending on the network you select, the LLDP map will display the following information:

Subnet M	IMap (LLDP)	k Reset Guide
Fit Center Fit Center Dave Save Revert Conter Save Save Conter Save Save Conter Save Save Save Save Save Save Save Save		
	2900 Series G2 In 27 mil ≥ 29 HoRt graduent com	

- The blank field in the upper right allows you to find one or more devices in the map. You can enter a string, and SL1 will highlight only the devices that have a device name that matches the string.
- Each device appears as an icon in the map.

NOTE: If your account is of type "user", you can view only devices that belong to the same organization(s) as your user account.

• Each network device is connected to its parent device with a line. The color of the line specifies the current state of the connection at each end. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the network connection. For example, a link line that is red on the child end and yellow on the parent end indicates that the interface has a critical event on the child end and a minor event on the parent end.

NOTE: If all or part of a link are white, this means that SL1 could not determine the interface state or device state for that end of the link.

- Each device icon has a color outline. The color of the outline specifies the current state of the device. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the device.
- When the map appears, you can view and reposition the components. The map can be edited and re-arranged using drag-and-drop features. Devices and links can be repositioned for easier reading, if necessary. For details, see *Buttons, Tools, Icons and Customization*.
- Mousing over a device displays its name, IP address, device type, and device category.
- Mousing over a link displays as much of the following information as SL1 can retrieve about both the parent and child interface: the MAC address, vendor, interface name, interface alias, and IP address.

If the nodes in the map are using Extended display (Edit: Nodes), you can click on an icon to view events on the device (¹), create a ticket about the device (¹), view the Device Summary page (¹), print a report about the device (¹), or view the Device Properties page (²).

Filtering the Nodes in a LLDP Map

You can filter the nodes in a LLDP map. This feature works the same as Layer-2 map. To learn more about filtering nodes in a LLDP map, see the section *Filtering Nodes in a Layer-2 map*.

Creating, Editing, Confirming and Deleting a Link

You can confirm or delete unconfirmed links in a LLDP map. To learn more about confirming or deleting links in a LLDP map, see the section on **Confirming or Deleting an Unconfirmed Link**.

You can create links between nodes in a LLDP map. The **Link Editor** pane is the same as described for Layer-2 maps. To learn more about the **Link Editor** pane, see the section on **Creating**, **Editing**, **and Deleting a Link**.

If you select **[Show Relationships]** for a LLDP link, you can view LLDP relationships. LLDP relationships appear only in Customized Maps pages and LLDP maps pages. Link Layer Discovery Protocol (LLDP) allows discovery of hardware and allows hardware within the same LAN or WAN to share information about each other. This information includes the MAC address and IP address, the operating system, and information about the network interface. LLDP uses is a Layer-2 protocol that uses the Data Link Layer and is unrouted. For LLDP relationships, you can define the following:

Node Relationships		
CDP Relationship	×	
	T	
Parent	Child	
VLAN: 1		
Hide Relationships		

- Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
- Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
- VLAN. Displays the VLAN created by the link.

For more information on how edit and delete links in a LLDP map, see the section on **Creating**, **Editing**, **and Deleting** a Link.

Customizing the Display of a LLDP Map

For details and examples on how to customize a LLDP map, see Buttons, Tools, Icons and Customization.

Event Correlation and Precedence

For details on parent and child devices, event correlation and precedence, see the section on *Event Correlation* and *Precedence*.

Layer-3 Maps

The **Layer-3 Maps** page displays a network map, where you can view details and relationships between Data Collectors and layer-3 routers and switches, and between the layer-3 routers and switches that have been discovered by SL1.

SL1 creates Layer-3 maps by running traceroute from a Data Collector to all devices that have layer-3 collection enabled in the device class.

Layer-3 networks are routed subnets, where devices are identified by IP address (as opposed to unrouted networks, where devices are identified by MAC address). Layer-3 links communicate over the Network Layer and allow devices from different subnets or networks to communicate. Layer-3 links use IP addresses to identify devices and their networks and therefore are routed and can pass messages through routers.

A layer-3 network map can include:

- Data Collectors, switches, and routers.
- Links between devices.
- Links between networks (created with switches or routers).
- SL1 automatically updates the map as new devices are discovered. SL1 also updates the map with the latest status and event information.

Viewing a Layer-3 Map

You can view a layer-3 Map from the **Layer 3 Map** page (Classic Maps > Topology Maps > Layer-3). To view a layer-3 map:

- 1. Go to the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps).
- 2. Expand the links for Topology Maps > Layer-3 and then select a network. The **Layer 3 Map** page appears and displays a map of the selected network.

NOTE: If your environment includes only a single layer-3 network, the NavBar will not list any networks under Layer-3. When you navigate to Layer-3 in the NavBar, SL1 will automatically load the map of your single layer-3 network.

3. Depending on the layer-3 map you select, the map will display the following:

NOTE: In order to have devices appear in Layer-3 maps, you must edit the device class and select the L3 Topology checkbox in the **Device Class Editor** page (System > Customize > Device Classes).



- The blank field in the upper right allows you to find one or more devices in the map. You can enter a string, and SL1 will highlight only the devices that have a device name that matches the string.
- Each device appears as an icon in the map.
- Each network device is connected to its parent device with a line. The color of the line specifies the current state of the connection at each end. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the network connection. For example, a link line that is red on the child end and yellow on the parent end indicates that the interface has a critical event on the child end and a minor event on the parent end.

NOTE: If all or part of a link is white, this means that SL1 could not determine the interface state or device state for that end of the link.

- Each device icon has a color outline. The color of the outline specifies the current state of the device. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the device.
- When the map appears, you can view and reposition the components. The map can be edited and re-arranged using drag-and-drop features. Devices and links can be repositioned for easier reading, if necessary. For details, see *Buttons, Tools, Icons and Customization*.
- Mousing over a device displays its name, IP address, device type, and device category.
- Mousing over a link displays as much of the following information as SL1 can retrieve about both the parent and child interface: the MAC address, vendor, interface name, interface alias, and IP address.
- If the nodes in the map are using Extended display (Edit: [Nodes]), you can click on an icon to view events on the device (¹), create a ticket about the device (²), view the Device Summary page (¹), print a report about the device (²), or view the Device Properties page (²).

You can filter the nodes in a Layer-3 map. This feature works the same as Layer-2 map. To learn more about filtering nodes in a Layer-3 map, see the section *Filtering Nodes in a Layer-2* map.

Creating, Editing, Confirming and Deleting a Link

You can confirm or deleted unconfirmed links in a Layer-3 map. To learn more about confirming or deleting links in a Layer-3 map, see the section on **Confirming of Deleting an Unconfirmed Link**.

You can create links between nodes in a Layer-3 map. The **Link Editor** pane is the same as described for Layer-2 maps. To learn more about the **Link Editor** pane, see the section on **Creating**, **Editing**, **and Deleting a Link**.

If you select **[Show Relationships]** for a Layer-3 link, you can view Layer-3 relationships. Layer 3 Relationships appears only in the My Customized Maps pages and Layer-3 Maps pages. Layer-3 links use the Network Layer and allow devices from different subnets or networks to communicate. Layer-3 links use IP addresses and therefore are routed and can pass messages through routers. For Layer 3 Relationships, you can define the following:

Link Editor	×
em7_cu2 (Device)	envistaesx01.envista.localhost (Device)
Parent	Child
Link Options:	
Link Color: Auto (Interface State ther	n Device State)
Link Color Source: Parent and Child	
Label Source: Combined (if available)	Percentage
Label Scale:	100%
Node Relationships	
Layer 3 Relationship	×
Parent	Child
	1
Hide Rel	ationships

- Device.Displays the name of the device at one end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
- Device. Displays the name of the device at the other end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.

For more information on how to edit and delete links in a Layer-3 map, see the section on Creating, Editing, and Deleting a Link.

Customizing the Display of a Layer-3 Map

For details and examples on how to customize a layer-3 map, see Buttons, Tools, Icons and Customization.

Event Correlation and Precedence

For details on parent and child devices, event correlation and precedence, see the section on *Event Correlation* and *Precedence*.

Chapter

5

Customized Maps

Overview

This chapter covers the use of customized maps, which you can create to view the devices and links that are most important to you.

Use the following menu options to navigate the SL1 user interface:

- To view a pop-out list of menu options, click the menu icon (三).
- To view a page containing all the menu options, click the Advanced menu icon (…).

This chapter includes the following topics:

About Customized Maps	76
Creating and Populating the Device Group	
Creating, Editing, and Deleting Links	
Creating a Link in a Customized Map	79
Editing a Link in a Customized Map	82
Deleting a Link in a Customized Map	83
Viewing and Filtering Customized Maps	83
Filtering the Nodes in a Customized Map	84
Example: Creating a Custom Map	

About Customized Maps

A customized map allows you to view the devices and links that are most important to you.

When you create a customized map, you are also creating a new device group (which appears in the **Device Groups** page). You can add devices and other sub-device groups to the new map, just as you would to a standard device group.

If SL1 has information about the relationships between the devices in a customized map, SL1 automatically includes the appropriate links in the customized map. Customized maps display every type of relationship data, which includes:

- Layer-2 devices and their clients
- Layer-3 devices and layer-2 devices
- Component devices and their parents, e.g. virtual machines and their hypervisors
- Network devices that use CDP (Cisco Discovery Protocol) and devices that are specified as neighbors in the CDP tables
- Network devices that use LLDP (Link Layer Discovery Protocol) and devices that are specified as neighbors in the LLDP tables
- Device relationships created with Dynamic Applications
- Manually created parent-child relationships that affect event correlation

Customized maps appear in the following sections:

- My Customized Maps. Personalized maps that you create.
- User Customized Maps. If you are a user of type "administrator", you can navigate to the maps in this section to view and edit all customized maps in SL1, even if the device group associated with the map was defined with the field Shared (visible to all users) set to no.
- Shared Customized Maps. If a customized map or device group is defined as "shared", you can view the maps in this section. The maps in Shared Customized Maps require the same Access Hooks and Access Keys as device groups. Depending upon the Access Keys assigned to your account, you might be able to edit Shared Customized Maps created by other users. To learn more about Access Hooks and Access Keys, see the manual Access Permissions.

NOTE: If you create a device group from the **Device Groups** page and set the **Visibility** field to include Maps/Views, the device group will appear as a map in the **Custom Device Group Map** page (Maps > Classic Maps > My Customized Maps). If you set the **Shared** field to yes, the device group will appear for view by other users as a map in the **Shared Customized Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps > Shared Customized Maps).

When you edit a view-only relationship, the change is made only in that map. When you edit a CDP, LLDP, Layer-2, Layer-3, or Event Correlation relationship, the changes are applied throughout SL1.

Creating and Populating the Device Group

When you initially create a customized map and add devices and device groups to the customized map, you are actually defining a device group; however, you are using the maps interface instead of the **Device Groups** page to do so.

NOTE: You can also create a device group from the **Device Groups** page. If you select Maps in the Visibility field, the device group will appear as a map in the **Custom Device Group Map** page (Maps > Classic Maps > My Customized Maps). If you set the **Shared** field to yes, the device group will appear as a map in the **Shared Customized Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps > Shared Customized Maps).

NOTE: By default, device groups created in the **Custom Device Group Map** page include only Maps/Views under **Visibility** and have **Shared** set to no. However, you can change these default settings by editing the device group from the **Device Groups** page.

To create a new customized map:

- Go to the Custom Device Group Map page (Maps > Classic Maps > My Customized Maps > New Group/Map).
- 2. In the map pane, select the **Edit:**[Nodes] button to add devices and optionally device groups to your customized map.
- 3. To add a device to the Customized Map, in the Nodes menu at the top of the pane, select the Add Dev icon. When the Device Browser modal appears, search for the device(s) you want to add to the customized map. Select the checkbox for one or more devices you want to add to the customized map.
- 4. To add a device group to the Customized Map, in the Nodes menu at the top of the pane, select the Add Group icon. When the Device Browser modal page appears, search for the device group(s) you want to add to the customized map. Select the checkbox for one or more device groups you want to include in the customized map.
- 5. To delete a device from the Customized Map, select the device's icon, select the Edit:[Nodes] button to make the Nodes menu appear at the top of the pane, and then select the **Delete** icon ().
- To delete a device group from the Customized Map, select the device group's icon, select the Edit:
 [Nodes] button to make the Nodes menu appear at the top of the pane, and then select the Delete icon (

NOTE: If a device group includes a dynamic rule, SL1 will examine the rule and automatically add devices that match the rule's criteria to the device group. If you delete a device that SL1 has automatically added to the device group, the device will reappear the next time you view the device group map. For details on device groups and dynamic rules, see the manual *Device Groups and Device Templates*.

- 7. If SL1 detects Layer-2, Layer-3, CDP, LLDP, VMware, or Component Mapping relationships between the devices, SL1 automatically includes the appropriate links in the customized map.
- 8. After you add devices and device groups to the map, you can manually create links and edit existing links.
- 9. Clicking on an icon for a device group displays the customized map for that device group.
- 10. When you select the Edit:[Save] button, SL1 prompts you to provide a name for the new customized map.

Creating, Editing, and Deleting Links

In a customized map, you can create links between two devices, edit links between two devices, and delete links between two devices. You can also confirm a relationship between two devices.

In a customized map, you can create the following types of links:

- Visual Relationship (this map only). Visual Relationships appear only in the My Customized Maps section. In My Customized Maps, if SL1 has not already discovered another type of relationship between two devices, each manually created link initially has this type of relationship. For Visual Relationships, you can optionally convert the relationship to other types of relationships.
- CDP Relationship. CDP relationships appear only in the My Customized Maps section and CDP maps pages. Cisco Discovery Protocol (CDP) allows discovery of Cisco hardware and allows Cisco hardware within the same LAN or WAN to share information about each other. This information includes the MAC address and IP address, the operating system, and information about the network interface. CDP uses a layer-2 protocol that uses the Data Link Layer and is unrouted. CDP can also run on legacy Hewlett Packard Hardware.
- LLDPRelationship. LLDP relationships appear only in the My Customized Maps section and LLDP maps pages. Link Layer Discovery Protocol (LLDP) allows discovery of hardware and allows hardware within the same LAN or WAN to share information about each other. This information includes the MAC address and IP address, the operating system, and information about the network interface. LLDP uses a layer-2 protocol that uses the Data Link Layer and is unrouted.
- Event Correlation Override. Event Correlation relationships appear only in the My Customized Maps section. If you want to manually define a parent device and child device for two devices that do not share a Layer-2 link, Layer-3 link, a CDP link or a VMware relationship, you can create an Event Correlation Override link between the devices.

- Layer 2 Relationship. layer-2 relationships appear only in the My Customized Maps section and Layer-2 Maps pages. Layer-2 links use the Data Link Layer and allow devices in a WAN or LAN to communicate with one another. Layer-2 links use Ethernet and MAC addresses to communicate with devices in the same LAN or WAN. layer-2 links are unrouted.
- Layer 3 Relationship. Layer -3 Relationships appear only in the My Customized Maps section and Layer 3 Map page. Layer-3 links use the Network Layer and allow devices from different subnets or networks to communicate. layer-3 links use IP addresses and therefore are routed and can pass messages through routers.

SL1 uses CDP, LLDP, Event Correlation, Layer-2, and Layer-3 relationships for event correlation. For details on event correlation, see the section on *Event Correlation and Precedence*. When you add devices to a customized map, SL1 automatically adds all links that it has discovered.

- If SL1 does not discover a link, you can manually create the link in a customized map. For CDP, LLDP, Layer-2, and Layer-3 links, the newly created links will also appear in the appropriate maps. The manually created link will be saved in SL1. SL1 will not overwrite the new link. Manually created links have precedence over automatically discovered links in Layer-2, CDP, and Layer-3 maps.
- If SL1 discovers a link but the link information is incorrect, you can manually edit the link in a Customized Map. For CDP, LLDP, Layer-2, and Layer-3 links, the edited information will also appear in the appropriate maps. The edited link will be saved in SL1. SL1 will not overwrite your changes to the link. Edited links have precedence over automatically discovered links in Layer-2, CDP, LLDP, and Layer-3 maps.

Creating a Link in a Customized Map

If SL1 does not discover a link, you can manually create the link in a Customized Map. You can also create Visual Relationship links and Event Correlation links.

To create a link in a Customized Map:

- 1. Go to Maps > Classic Maps > My Customized Maps. Select the Customized Map you want to edit.
- 2. When the Customized Map appears in the pane, select the Edit: [Links] button.
- 3. Find the device icon for the parent device. Click on it.
- 4. Find the device icon for the child device. Click on it.
- 5. SL1 creates a link between the two icons.

6. When the **Link Editor** modal page appears, you can edit the values in each field. By default, links created in a Customized Map are a visual relationship, which are shown only on the view for the current map and are not used in event correlation. You have the following options in the **Node Relationships** pane:

Link Editor X
10.2.2.31 (Device) Topology Switch B (Device)
Parent Child
Link Options:
Link Color: Auto (Interface State then Device State)
Link Color Source: Parent and Child
Label Source: Combined (if available)
Label Scale: 100%
Node Relationships
Visual Relationship (this map only)
Parent Child 🔽
Convert Relationship To: 💌
Event Correlation Override CDP Relationship Layer 2 Relationship Layer 3 Relationship

- Visual Relationship (this map only). Visual Relationships appear only in the Customized Maps page. In My Customized Maps, if SL1 has not already discovered another type of relationship between two devices, each manually created link initially has this type of relationship. For Visual Relationships, you can define the following:
 - Device. Displays the name of the device at one end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - Device. Displays the name of the device at the other end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - **[Convert Relationship to]**. For relationships that are initially defined as Visual Relationships, SL1 allows you to convert these relationships to *Event Correlation*, CDP, Layer 2 or Layer 3.

- Event Correlation Override. Event Correlation relationships appear only in the Customized Maps page. If you want to manually define a parent device and child device for two devices that do not share a layer-2 link, layer-3 link, a CDP link, an LLDP link, or a VMware relationship, you can create an **Event Correlation Override** link between the devices. Additionally, you can then define an event hierarchy for these devices. For Event Correlation Override relationships, you can define the following:
 - Device. Displays the name of the device at one end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - Device. Displays the name of the device at the other end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
- **CDP Relationship**. CDP relationships appear only in Customized Maps pages and CDP maps pages. Cisco Discovery Protocol (CDP) allows discovery of Cisco hardware and allows Cisco hardware within the same LAN or WAN to share information about each other. This information includes the MAC address and IP address, the operating system, and information about the network interface. CDP uses is a layer-2 protocol that uses the Data Link Layer and is unrouted. CDP can also run on legacy Hewlett Packard Hardware. For CDP relationships, you can define the following:
 - Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - VLAN. Displays the VLAN created by the link.

LLDP Relationship. LLDP relationships appear only in Customized Maps pages and LLDP maps pages. Link Layer Discovery Protocol (LLDP) allows discovery of hardware and allows hardware within the same LAN or WAN to share information about each other. This information includes the MAC address and IP address, the operating system, and information about the network interface. LLDP uses is a layer-2 protocol that uses the Data Link Layer and is unrouted. For LLDP relationships, you can define the following:

- Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different
 interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared
 to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the
 setting in the **Device** field.
- Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different
 interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared
 to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the
 setting in the **Device** field.
- VLAN. Displays the VLAN created by the link.

- Layer 2 Relationship. Layer-2 relationships appear only in Customized Maps pages and layer-2 maps pages. Layer-2 links use the Data Link Layer and allow devices in a WAN or LAN to communicate with one another. Layer-2 links use Ethernet and MAC addresses to communicate with devices in the same LAN or WAN. Layer-2 links are unrouted. For layer-2 relationships, you can define the following:
 - Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - Interface. Displays the name of the interface at one end of the link. You can select a different interface on the device. You can then specify this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - VLAN. Displays the VLAN created by the link.
- Layer 3 Relationship. Layer 3 Relationships appears only in the My Customized Maps pages and layer-3 Maps pages. Layer-3 links use the Network Layer and allow devices from different subnets or networks to communicate. Layer-3 links use IP addresses and therefore are routed and can pass messages through routers. For Layer 3 Relationships, you can define the following:
 - Device. Displays the name of the device at one end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - Device. Displays the name of the device at the other end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.

Editing a Link in a Customized Map

If SL1 discovers inaccurate information about a link, you can manually edit the link's properties. You can also edit a link that was manually created.

To edit a link in a Customized Map:

- 1. Go to Maps > Classic Maps > My Customized Maps. Select the Customized Map you want to edit.
- 2. When the Customized Map appears in the pane, select the Edit: [Links] button.
- 3. Select the link you want to edit.
- 4. Select the *Edit Link* icon in the Link menu (at the top of the pane).
- 5. When the Link Editor modal page appears, you can edit the values in each field.
- 6. To save your changes, select the Edit: [Save] button.
- 7. The manually edited link will be saved in SL1. SL1 will not overwrite the edited link.

Deleting a Link in a Customized Map

If SL1 discovers a link that you do not want to appear in a Customized Map, you can delete the link. You can also delete links that were created manually.

NOTE: When you delete a layer-2 link, layer-3 link, CDP link, or LLDP link from a Customized Map, the link is not removed from the Layer-2 Map, Layer-3 map, CDP Map, or LLDP Map. The link is removed only from the display of the Customized Map.

To delete a link from a Customized Map:

- 1. Go to Maps > Classic Maps > My Customized Maps. Select the Customized Map you want to edit.
- 2. When the Customized Map appears in the pane, select the Edit: [Links] button.
- 3. Select the link you want to delete.
- 4. Select the **Del Link** icon in the Link menu (at the top of the pane).
- 5. To save your changes, select the Edit: [Save] button.
- 6. The deleted link will no longer appear in this Customized Map.

Viewing and Filtering Customized Maps

To view a Customized Map, go to the **[Views]** tab. Go to the left NavBar. Expand the links for **My Customized Maps**, **User Customized Maps**, or **Shared Customized Maps**. Select a device group to view. The **Customized Map** page appears and displays a map of the device group. Customized maps display:

- The blank field in the upper right allows you to find one or more devices in the map. You can enter a string, and SL1 will highlight only the devices that have a device name that matches the string. Each device appears as an icon in the map.
- Each network device is connected to its parent device with a line. The color of the line specifies the current state of the connection at each end. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the network connection. For example, a link line that is red on the child end and yellow on the parent end can indicate that the child device has a critical event and the parent device has a minor event.

NOTE: If all or part of a link are white, this means that SL1 could not determine the interface state or device state for that end of the link.

- Each device icon has a color outline. The color of the outline specifies the current state of the device. The state reflects the event of the highest severity for the device.
- When the map appears, you can view and reposition the components. The map can be edited and rearranged using drag-and-drop features. Devices and links can be repositioned for easier reading, if necessary.

- Mousing over a device displays its name, IP address, device type, and device category.
- Mousing over a link displays as much of the following information as SL1 can retrieve about both the parent and child interface: the MAC address, vendor, interface name, interface alias, and IP address.
- If the nodes in the map are using Extended display (Edit: Nodes), you can click on an icon to view events on the device (¹), create a ticket about the device (¹), view the Device Summary page (¹), print a report about the device (²), or view the Device Properties page (²).

Filtering the Nodes in a Customized Map

You can use the Filter tool to filter the nodes that are included in the current map.

Selecting the Filter icon () toggles on and off the display of the Node Filters checkboxes.

These checkboxes allow you to filter the nodes included in a map based on whether a device or connection is managed or unmanaged in SL1, whether the node is part of a device group, the status of the device (healthy, notice, minor, major, critical), or the device category assigned to the device.

To use the Filter tool:

- 1. Go to Custom Device Group Map or Maps > Classic Maps > User Customized Maps or Maps > Classic Maps > Shared Customized Maps. Select the map you want to view.
- 2. After the map is displayed, select the Filter tool () in the upper left.
- 3. SL1 displays a pane with the Node Filters checkboxes.
 - Select a checkbox to include the devices in the map.
 - Unselect a checkbox to remove the devices from the map.
- 4. You can select or unselect one or more of the following filters:
 - **Managed Devices**. If selected, the map will include devices that are managed by SL1. Managed devices are those that have been discovered with discovery.
 - **Unknown Connections**. If selected, the map will include connections that are "unknown" to SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a connection but cannot provide details on all or one end of the connection.
 - Device Groups. If selected, the map will include device groups.
 - Unmanaged Devices. If selected, the map will include devices that are not managed by SL1. This means that SL1 has detected a device but has not performed discovery on that device.
 - Unconnected Nodes. If selected, the map will include devices that are not connected to core devices. The device group defines the core devices. Those devices that are statically assigned to the device group are core devices. For dynamic rules in a device group, the seed devices (those devices that match the specified criteria for the group) are core devices.
 - *Healthy*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "healthy". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "healthy".

- **Notice**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "notice". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "notice".
- *Minor*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "minor". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "minor".
- *Major*. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "major". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "major".
- **Critical**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "critical". This means that the most severe event associated with the device has a severity of "critical".
- **Unknown**. If selected, the map will include devices with a status of "unknown". This means that SL1 cannot determine the most severe event associated with the device.
- List of Device Categories. The pane includes a checkbox for each device category associated with the current map. For each selected device category, the map will include devices with that device category.
- **Component Mapping**. If selected, the map will include devices with links that represent relationships created by dynamic applications.
- List of Virtual Relationships. List of all virtual relationships in the map. If selected, the map will include devices with links that represent relationships created by applications like VMware or Azure.

Example: Creating a Custom Map

In this example we will create a custom map from devices in a layer-2 map. In this instance, we want to take devices from the map, add other devices with links, and arrange them to show where they are located in a workspace.

1. Go to the Subnet Map (L2) page (Maps > Classic Maps > Topology Maps > Layer-2).

In this example, we chose a layer-2 map consisting of 12 devices. We want three of those devices. To select the three devices, select the Edit: Nodes button, and select the three devices while holding down the <Shift> key. After highlighting the devices, select the [Export: Selected] button.





3. You will be prompted to name the exported device group. We named our exported device group "Workspace_Map". The exported map "Workspace_Map" will now be saved under **My Customized Maps**.

We can now edit our customized map in the **Custom Device Group Map** page. From the **Custom Device Group Map** page we can add more devices or device groups, add links between devices, and add pictures, shapes, and text, among other options. In this example, we want to add more devices and map them in our workspace. To do so:

1. Select **My Customized Maps**. Find the exported map, "Workspace_Map", and select it. The three devices we selected appear.



2. To add devices to the map, select the **Edit**: [Nodes] button. At the top of the page select the [Add Dev] button.



3. The **Device Browser** page appears, where you can select individual devices to the map. To select a device, click its checkbox. In this example, we selected four devices to add to our map.

			Device					4
_	Device Name •	IP Address	Category	Device Class Sub-class	DID	Organization	1	
À								
1.	10-Forward	10.20.0.195	Servers	NET-SNMP FreeBSD	53	System	V	
2.	10.20.0.108	10.20.0.108	RackUnit	Cisco Systems UCS Blade	72	System	V	
3.	10.20.0.123	10.20.0.123	Chassis	Cisco Systems UCS Chassis	1011	System		
4.	10.20.0.13	10.20.0.13	Unknown	Generic SNMP	105	System		
5.	10.20.0.135	10.20.0.135	Switches	Cisco Systems Catalyst 3508	281	System	V	=
6.	10.20.0.141	10.20.0.141	Switches	Cisco Systems Catalyst WS-	116	System		
7.	10.20.0.146	10.20.0.146	Broadban	Netopia Netopia 3346 v8.2r1	2	System		
8.	10.20.0.147	10.20.0.147	Broadban	Netopia Netopia 3381 v8.0.10	174	System	V	
9.	10.20.0.148	10.20.0.148	Broadban	Netopia Netopia (R3100, R45	162	System		
10.	10.20.0.149	10.20.0.149	Broadban	Netopia R7200-T	160	System		
11.	10.20.0.151	10.20.0.151	Unknown	Generic SNMP	138	System		ч
12.	10.20.0.160	10.20.0.160	Unknown	Generic SNMP	163	System		
13.	10.20.0.163	10.20.0.163	Unknown	Generic SNMP	164	System		
14.	10.20.0.167	10.20.0.167	Unknown	Netopia OEM	161	System		
15.	10.20.0.175	10.20.0.175	Unknown	Generic SNMP	43	System		
16.	10.20.0.176	10.20.0.176	Unknown	Konica Corporation OEM	40	System		
17.	10.20.0.190	10.20.0.190	Unknown	Generic SNMP	54	System		-

4. The devices now appear in our map, "Workspace_Map".



Before adding links to our map, we want to add an image of a map. To add the image:

 Select the Edit:Images button. To select an image, select the [Add] button at the top of the page. If the image you want to add is not currently available, you can manually enter the URL of an image to use, browse your local computer to locate an image to upload, or select from images already loaded onto the SL1 system.

NOTE: ScienceLogic recommends you upload images to SL1. When you insert an image by supplying a URL, this image will stretch when resized, regardless of the behavior specified in the **Resize Behavior** field.

Custom Devic		ale 100% Resi ha 100% Sta		1px 100%	8			Kiosk Reset Guide
Fit Center Center Conte		netopia.	Use Existing Image	External I		Set	A X d T Y 10-Forward	UCS Blade 1 South 2 2 10200100

2. To add the image to the map, click the image. The map is now displayed behind the devices.

 Image: transmission of the map is now displayed behind the devices.



3. We now want to move the devices. To select individual devices, select the **Edit**: [**Nodes**] button. While holding down the left mouse button, click and drag the devices to the desired locations.



- 4. Now that are devices are in the correct locations, we want to create links between them. To create links between devices, select the Edit: Links button. Select the device you want to be the parent device, and then select the device you want to be the child device. A link will be drawn between the devices. You can also create a link that is a "visual relationship" only. If SL1 has not already discovered another type of relationship between two devices, each manually created link initially has this type of relationship. For Visual Relationships, you can define the following:
 - Device. Displays the name of the device at one end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - Device. Displays the name of the device at the other end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - [Convert Relationship to]. For relationships that are initially defined as Visual Relationships, SL1 allows you to convert these relationships to Event Correlation, CDP, LLDP, layer 2 or layer 3.



We now have our devices located on a map, and have created links between the devices. Finally, we want to add text to the map. To add text to the map:

- Kios S/U = = = = 109% **v** 1 С D Δ N Α Δ Fit Center WA CISCO Catalyst ND cisco OR Edit: Nodes Links Shapes Text Images Save Revert Layers: Modes Links State Type State State State State State Type ID SD w w IA NE UT со netopia кs мо ΤN ок ΑZ NM AR sc GA мs AL cisco LA н AK
- 1. In the "Workspace_Map", select the Edit:**[Text]** button. Select the **[Add]** button at the top of the page. A text block will be added to the map.

2. To move the text block, left click the pane titled **Text Block** and drag the block. To add text to the text block, click inside the block with your cursor and type a message.



3. We now want make our font larger, and change its color. To change the font size, left-click and drag the font to highlight it. In the font size drop-down, increase the font size. To change the color of the font, left-click and drag to highlight the text, select the font color drop-down and select a different font color.



To save the map, select the **[Save]** button. To disregard the changes and clear the page to the three devices, select the **[Revert]** button.

Chapter



Event Correlation and Precedence

Overview

SL1 allows you to create parent-and-child relationships and define event correlations. SL1 will create parent and child devices automatically when:

- SL1 discovers Layer-2, CDP, LLDP, Layer-3, and legacy VMware topology.
- SL1 performs collection for Dynamic Applications that create component devices or device relationships.

You can also create parent and child links manually. Once parent and child devices have been created, you can define suppressing and suppressible events.

Use the following menu options to navigate the SL1 user interface:

- To view a pop-out list of menu options, click the menu icon (\equiv) .
- To view a page containing all the menu options, click the Advanced menu icon (…).

This chapter includes the following topics:

Event Correlation	95
Precedence	. 99

Event Correlation

In SL1, event correlation means the ability to build parent-child relationships between events. When events are correlated, only the parent event is displayed on the **Events** page. The child events are rolled up under the parent event and are not displayed on the **Events** page. For the parent event, the count column will be incremented to indicate the number of correlated child events.

You can define parent-and-child relationships for devices and for the events associated with those devices. When *suppressing* and *suppressible* events are defined, selected events on the child device (or children devices) will be rolled-up under the parent device's events on the **Events** page.

For example:

- Suppose you have a device named "cat-5505". Suppose this device is a switch. Suppose we define this switch as a parent device.
- Suppose we have a device named "server001". Suppose this device is a server that is attached to the switch. Suppose we define this server as a child device to "cat-5505".
- Suppose we define the event "Poller: Interface operationally down" as a suppressing event.
- Suppose we define the event "Poller: Device not available via SNMP or ICMP" as a suppressible event.
- If the interface goes down on the switch "cat-5505", SL1 will not be able to communicate with the server, "server001", attached to the switch.
- So if the event "Poller: Interface operationally down" occurs on "cat-5505", the event "Poller: Device not available via SNMP or ICMP" will be suppressed on "server001". In the **Event Monitor** page, only the event "Poller: Interface operationally down" on the device "cat-5505" will appear.

To define event correlation, you must define parent and child devices, and define a hierarchy between events. In Topology maps, SL1 can automatically define parent and child devices. For example, if SL1 discovers a switch and its clients, SL1 automatically defines the switch as the parent device and its clients as the children devices.

You can also manually define parent and child devices when you create Layer-2 links, Layer-3 links, CDP links, LLDP links, or Event Correlation Override links.

To manually define parent and child links in Customized maps:

- 1. Go to Maps > Classic Maps > My Customized Maps and select a customized map you want to view. In this example we will use a customized map that does not have links defined.
- 2. In this example, we have six devices:



- 3. To create a parent-child link between two devices, select the **[Edit:] [Links]** button. Create a link for two devices by clicking first on the device you want to be a parent, and then click the device you want to be the child. In this example, we will create an Event Correlation Link.
- 4. A link is created, and the Link Editor appears.

Custom Device Group Map	<u>A</u>	Kiosk Reset Guide
200m: Edit Link Del Link Help:Create a link between two nodes by first clicking the o	-	
	leaded parent note, then the char mode	
	Lister Cashyst 1970 - 19	

5. The Link Editor allows you to perform the following actions:

Link Editor	×
10.20.0.141 (Device)	10.20.0.135 (Device)
Parent	Child
Link Options: Link Color: Auto (Interface Link Color Source: Parent and Ch Label Source: Combined (if a	
Label Scale:	100%
Node Relationships	
Visual Relationship (this map only)	×
Parent	Child
Convert Relation Event Correlations CDP Relations Layer 2 Relation Layer 3 Relation	on Override hip nship

- **Device**. Displays the name of the device at one end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). A sibling relationship affects only the display of the map when the default arrangement options are used; the two devices will be on the same horizontal plane in the tree view or the same distance from the center point in the radial tree view.
- **Device**. Displays the name of the device at the other end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link).

- Link Color. Specifies how SL1 should color-code the link. The link can use either interface state or device state. Interface state reflects the event with the highest severity that is aligned with the interface. Device state means the event with the highest severity that is aligned with the device. Choices are:
 - Auto (Interface State then Device State). This is the default setting. If possible, SL1 will first use the
 interface state to color-code the link. If SL1 cannot determine the interface state, SL1 will use the
 device state to color-code the link. If you select Parent and Child in the Link Color Source field,
 each end of the link can have a different color.
 - Interface State. SL1 will first use the interface state to color-code the link. If you select Parent and Child in the **Link Color Source** field, each end of the link can have a different color.
 - Device State. SL1 will use the device state to color-code the link. If you select Parent and Child in the *Link Color Source* field, each end of the link can have a different color.

NOTE: If all or part of a link are white, this means that SL1 could not determine the interface state or device state for that end of the link.

- Link Color Source. Specifies whether SL1 will display the status of both interfaces or only one interface when displaying link status. Choices are:
 - Parent and Child. This is the default setting. Half the link will display the parent status and half the link will display the child status.
 - Parent Node Only. The link will be color-coded to display only the parent status.
 - Child Node Only. The link will be color-coded to display only the child status.
- Label Source. Specifies whether or not to include a label with the link and if so, the information to use in the label. Choices are:
 - Disabled. This is the default setting. SL1 will not include a label with this link.
 - Auto (based on relationships). Based on what information is available, SL1 will automatically select the label source that provides the most information.
 - Parent Interface Utilization. Specifies the label will display the utilization of the percent interface.
 - Child Interface Utilization. Specifies the label will display the utilization of the child interface.
 - Combined Link Utilization. Specifies the label will display the combined utilization of the percent and child interfaces.
- Label Scale. Allows you to set the size of the text box and text of the label in relation to the size of the link. You can use the slider to choose scale between 50 % to 300%.
- [Show Relationships]. Displays the Node Relationships pane, where you can define and edit the link.

- 6. In the **Node Relationships** pane, select **[Convert Relationship To]**. Select Event Correlation Override. You have the following options:
 - Device. Displays the name of the device at one end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.
 - Device. Displays the name of the device at the other end of the link. You can specify whether this device is a parent, sibling, or child (as compared to the other end of the link). Editing the parent/sibling/child setting in this field also changes the setting in the **Device** field.

After parent and child relationships have been established, you can define a hierarchy between events—that is, define parent events (called suppressing events) and child events (called suppressible events). For details on defining a hierarchy between events, see the manual *Events*.

Precedence

In some instances you might have multiple parent-child links between two devices. SL1 displays only one of the relationships. SL1 gives precedence to showing these relationships in the following order:

- Manually defined event correlation links
- Layer-3 links
- CDP links
- Layer-2 links

Additionally, any manually created, edited, or deleted layer-3, CDP, and layer-2 links take precedence over the information discovered by SL1. The changes are propagated to discovery and event correlation.

Chapter

7

Classic Views

Overview

Classic Views allow you to view devices by device group, device organizations, and device categories. Unlike Device Maps, which show relationships between devices, Classic Views allow you to view device status and events associated with each device in a simplified, sortable grouping. Devices are grouped by the severity of event. An event is a message that is triggered when a specific condition is met. Events are color-coded, and can be one of the following: Healthy (green), Notice (blue), Minor (yellow), Major (orange), or Critical (red).

Use the following menu options to navigate the SL1 user interface:

- To view a pop-out list of menu options, click the menu icon (三).
- To view a page containing all the menu options, click the Advanced menu icon (…).

This chapter includes the following topics:

Types of Classic Views	101
Viewing Classic Views	101
The Actions Menu	103
Searching and Sorting a Classic View	103

Types of Classic Views

Classic Views are similar to Device Maps in that they show devices by device groups, devices by organization, and devices by category. Unlike Device Maps, Classic Views show only the status of a device and the most recent event associated with a device. Classic Views show you the following views:

- **Device Group**. A device group is a user-defined group of devices. Device groups make it easy to configure and manage multiple devices. SL1 automatically updates the Device Group View as new devices are added to device groups and as new device groups are defined. SL1 also updates this view every five seconds with the latest status and event information.
- Organizational View. All devices, policies, events, tickets, and users in SL1 are associated with an organization. An organization is a group for managing elements and user accounts. An organization can be defined by geographic area, departments, types of devices, or any structure that works best for your needs. The minimum characteristics of an organization are:
 - A unique name
 - Users who are members of the organization
 - Elements, such as devices, associated with the organization
- Device Categories. A device category is a logical categorization of devices by primary function. SL1 uses device categories to group related devices in reports and views. Device categories are paired with device classes to organize and describe discovered devices. Device class usually describes the manufacturer. Device category describes the function of the hardware. For example, a device might have a device class of "Microsoft Windows 2000 Server" and a device category of "servers". You can view device category maps in the Device Category Map page (Maps > Classic Maps > Device Maps > Categories).

Viewing Classic Views

You can view a classic view from the Classic Views section on the Classic Maps page.

To view a classic view:

- 1. On the **Classic Maps** page (Maps > Classic Maps), go to the **Classic Views** section.
- 2. Select a device group/organization/category from the drop-down list in the upper left of the page. You can also search and sort a device group/organization/category. Sorting and searching views are discussed later in this section. Each classic view will be displayed with the following parameters:

Classic Views Organizational View		Actions Reset Guide
[System (176 devices)] 💌	Search (name or IP):	[Group devices by Severity]
Critical		^
Image: Second system Image: Second system SystemEDGE Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system Image: Second system		E
Major 1		
Image: Construction of the second		
Minor		
	1 1 Cisco. Cisco. Catalyst 1 1 1 catstoc 1 catstoc 1 catstoc 1	
BIG-IP BIG-IP red hat. Router Catalyst	Quantum	L 2 ml + P
The boostery of every XEROX 1 X m m 2		Server time: 10/24/2014, 12:24:15 PM

- Each device in the device group appears as an icon.
- Each icon is color coded, to represent the most severe event that is currently active for the device.
- Events that have occurred in the last minute create a border around the device icon and cause the border to flash once per second.
- Events that have occurred in the last five minutes create a border around the device icon and cause the border of the device icon to flash slowly.
- Events that occurred prior to the last five minutes do not create a border around the device icon. However, the device icon is still color-coded to reflect the device's event with the highest severity.
- If a device does not have an event associated with it, the event icon does not have a border. However, the device icon is still color-coded to reflect the device's status (usually green for "healthy").
- Initially, the page displays the last five minutes of device events over a time span of a few seconds. You might see the color of each icon change, and you might see the frequency at which the border flashes change. In the lower right corner, you will see the timestamp quickly cycle through the last five minutes.
- The view automatically refreshes every five seconds. In the lower right corner, you will see the timestamp update. Based on the updated information, the device icons might move and/or the border around the device icons might change.
- Each device has the following icons you can select: View events on a device(4); create a ticket about the device (4); view the Device Summary page (4); print a report about the device (4); or view the Device Properties page (2).

The Actions Menu

The **[Actions]** menu allows you to customize how the page appears. The following entries appear in the **[Actions]** menu:



- Show/hide device icons. Toggles on and off the display of the large, device-class icon and the condensed device icon.
- **Replay events**. Graphically displays the last five minutes of event activity in a few seconds. You might see the color of each icon change, and you might see the frequency at which the border flashes change. In the lower right corner, you will see the timestamp quickly cycle through the last five minutes.
- Toggle animations. Toggles on and off the flashing borders that indicate event age.
- **Detach window**. Opens a new window with the Device Group/Organizational/Device Category View displayed.

Searching and Sorting a Classic View

The **Classic Views** section include a search field in the upper right that allows you to search the currently displayed devices for a device name or a device IP.

This field is a find-while-you-type filter. As you type, the page is filtered to match the text in the **Search** field.



The **Classic Views** pages also include a **Group devices by** field in the upper right that allows you to sort the list of devices. You can sort by:

• Group devices by Severity. Groups devices by the severity of the device status, with highest severity first. Within each severity, orders by device name, in ascending alphabetical order.



- tions Reset Search (name or IP); [Group devices by Na CISCO. Router CISCO. Router CISCO. Catalyst CISCO. Catalyst 1 netopia. netopia. netopia. netopia. 😕 🏦 🖶 . 😕 📶 🕾 8 📶 🔿 . 😕 📶 🕮 😕 📶 📾 2 📶 🖶 Konica MINOLTA 1 1 1 2 1 1 😫 🃶 📾 😂 📶 🖶 😫 📶 🖶 1 D-Link netopia. 0 ~ 2 2 S 1 L 😣 📶 🖶 🥜 11 📾 1 📾 11 🖷 CISCO. Router CISCO. Router CISCO. Router CISCO. Router 0 G). netopia. FlowPo FlowPoin MCDATA 5 📶 🖶 × 📶 🖶 🛎 📶 📾 . 8 📶 🖶 8 📶 🖷 😫 📶 🖶 cisco. Router CISCO. Catalyst cisco. cisco. ASCEND ASCEN RIGOH A POLYCON Juniper Router Router 🔪 🛤 🏄 🛤 🌽 S 📶 📾 .
- Group devices by Name. Groups devices by name, in ascending alphabetical order.

• Group devices by Class/Make. Groups devices by manufacturer, in ascending alphabetical order. Within each manufacturer, orders by device name, in ascending alphabetical order.



• Group devices by Sub-Class/Model. Groups devices by manufacturer and model, in ascending alphabetical order. Within each sub-class/model, orders by device name, in ascending alphabetical order.

Classic Views Organizational View		Actions Reset Guide
[System (176 devices)] 💌	Search (name or IP):	[Group devices by Sub-Class / Model] 💌
Advanced Telecommunications Modules Ltd OEM		
APC Master Switch PDU		щ
APC SmartUPS 2200		
APC UPS		
APC Web/SNMP Management Card		
ΔΡΟ		
		Server time: 10/24/2014, 12:30:58 PM

• **Group devices by Category**. Groups devices by device category, in ascending alphabetical order. Within each device category, orders by device name, in ascending alphabetical order.



© 2003 - 2021, ScienceLogic, Inc.

All rights reserved.

LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND GENERAL DISCLAIMER

ALL INFORMATION AVAILABLE IN THIS GUIDE IS PROVIDED "AS IS," WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. SCIENCELOGIC[™] AND ITS SUPPLIERS DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT.

Although ScienceLogic[™] has attempted to provide accurate information on this Site, information on this Site may contain inadvertent technical inaccuracies or typographical errors, and ScienceLogic[™] assumes no responsibility for the accuracy of the information. Information may be changed or updated without notice. ScienceLogic[™] may also make improvements and / or changes in the products or services described in this Site at any time without notice.

Copyrights and Trademarks

ScienceLogic, the ScienceLogic logo, and EM7 are trademarks of ScienceLogic, Inc. in the United States, other countries, or both.

Below is a list of trademarks and service marks that should be credited to ScienceLogic, Inc. The ® and [™] symbols reflect the trademark registration status in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and may not be appropriate for materials to be distributed outside the United States.

- ScienceLogic[™]
- EM7[™] and em7[™]
- Simplify IT[™]
- Dynamic Application™
- Relational Infrastructure Management[™]

The absence of a product or service name, slogan or logo from this list does not constitute a waiver of ScienceLogic's trademark or other intellectual property rights concerning that name, slogan, or logo.

Please note that laws concerning use of trademarks or product names vary by country. Always consult a local attorney for additional guidance.

Other

If any provision of this agreement shall be unlawful, void, or for any reason unenforceable, then that provision shall be deemed severable from this agreement and shall not affect the validity and enforceability of any remaining provisions. This is the entire agreement between the parties relating to the matters contained herein.

In the U.S. and other jurisdictions, trademark owners have a duty to police the use of their marks. Therefore, if you become aware of any improper use of ScienceLogic Trademarks, including infringement or counterfeiting by third parties, report them to Science Logic's legal department immediately. Report as much detail as possible about the misuse, including the name of the party, contact information, and copies or photographs of the potential misuse to: legal@sciencelogic.com



800-SCI-LOGIC (1-800-724-5644)

International: +1-703-354-1010